

# LUND UNIVERSITY

### Mediatized tourism

### The convergence of media and tourism performances

Månsson, Maria

2015

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Månsson, M. (2015). *Mediatized tourism: The convergence of media and tourism performances*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Service Studies]. Lund University.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or recorrect

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Mediatized tourism

# The convergence of media and tourism performances

Maria Månsson



AKADEMISK AVHANDLING som för avläggande av filosofie doktorsexamen vid samhällsvetenskapliga fakulteten, Lunds universitet, kommer att offentligt försvaras i U203, Campus Helsingborg, torsdagen den 11 juni 2015, kl. 13.

Department of service management and service	Document name	
studies Box 882, SE-251 08 Helsingborg, Sweden	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
	Date of issue April 2015	
	1	
Author(s) Maria Månsson	Sponsoring organization	
Title and subtitle Mediatized tourism. The convergence of media and tourism performances.		

Abstract:

Popular culture and tourism are intertwining. The use of film and literature amongst destination marketing organisations is a global trend, but how can we understand this phenomenon and all the processes involved? Up to now popular culture and tourism have been researched mainly from a single media perspective. However, it is difficult to separate the impact of one media product from that of another, and it is now time to highlight the processes of multimediality. Moreover, this far most of the research has focused on destination marketing issues and not on the tourists involved in these processes. Therefore, it is relevant to explore in which sense these intertwined media products are part of tourists' activities as well as of their understandings of places.

The aim of this dissertation is to explore the different processes that emerge when tourism and popular cultural media products interweave, placing special emphasis on tourist performances and destinations. Roslyn Chapel, which is featured in The Da Vinci Code, and the hereto related tourism activities is the case studied in this dissertation. However, each of the papers included have a slightly different theoretical and methodological approach. The main theoretical concepts applied and discussed in the dissertation are mediatization, convergence and performance.

Studying a single case this dissertation explores the different ongoing processes that this tourist place is part of, covering themes ranging from converging media products to tourists' performances and sense of place in relation to popular cultural media products. The dissertation thereby adds to the expanding field of research, which is concerned with the intertwining of popular culture and tourism.

Key words: Convergence, destination marketing, film tourism, mediatization, performance, popular culture, sense of place, The Da Vinci Code.

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

Supplementary bibliographical information

Language English

		10DN 070 01 7(22 2/0 0
ISSN and key title		ISBN 978-91-7623-349-8
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 192	Price
1		
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2015-04-29

# Mediatized tourism

# The convergence of media and tourism performances

Maria Månsson



Copyright cover comic strip Lise Myhre, nemi@nemi.no. Copyright Maria Månsson

Department of service management and service studies Lund University ISBN 978-91-7623-349-8 (tryck) ISBN 978-91-7623-350-4 (pdf)

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2015



# Contents

Acknowledgements	7
1 Introduction	9
Introducing the framework	12
Aim and research questions	16
Layout of the dissertation	18
2 Popular culture and tourism	19
Popular culture media products in circulation	21
Literary tourism	23
Film tourism	27
Business and management perspectives on film tourism	
research	29
The tourist perspective on film tourism research	31
Limitations and possibilities	32
3 Mediatized tourism	35
Mediatiztion	35
Media convergence and tourism	37
The expansion of mediatized tourism	41
4 Mediatized tourist performances of place	45
Media and tourist agency	45
Media and sense of place	48
Tourists' performance of place	50
Mediatized performances of destinations	52
5 Methodology and empirical material	57
6 Paper summaries	63
7 Conclusions	69
8 References	75
Paper I-V	

# Acknowledgements

It is hard to believe that it is 15 years ago since I started as a student at the service management programme focusing on tourism. My plan was never to become a PhD candidate after graduation but something happened during my studies. So the first person I would like to thank is Magnus Jirström, who was the head of department when I was a student. He talked to all of us students about the possibility to become a PhD candidate. This was something new to me but it triggered an interest that continued to grow. The next person that has been important is Szilvia Gyimothy. She believed in me and encouraged me to apply and she later became my supervisor for a number of years. Thank you for all the help and input you have given me over the years.

I would also like to thank my supervisors for all the time and effort you have put in and without you it had not been possible! First a thank you to my head supervisor Cecilia Fredriksson for becoming my supervisor in a time when you were very much needed and all the support, comments and feedback you have given since. Åsa Thelander, for joining my team of supervisors and has since then given me a lot of feedback and comments that have improved this dissertation. Lena Eskilsson, thank you for all the support, first as colleague when I was teaching at the Place marketing course with all the fun trips to Pärnu, then working, writing and travelling around in Europe with EuroScreen before you in the end also became my supervisor. Thank you for everything!

The next group of people I would like to thank is all my great PhD colleagues I have had over the years, first those who started the same time as me or were already there: Josefine Östrup Backe who I met already the first week as an undergraduate student, we have had so much fun over the years (remember Scotland) and it has been great to be able to support each other in our writing processes over the years. Christian Fuentes for being such a great friend who is always willing to share his knowledge. I appreciate all the talks we have had on tea breaks and lunches. Anette Svingstedt, for all pep talks. Jörgen Eksell, thank you for being such a supportive friend and colleague. Veronica Åberg, I don't know how I would have survived without you being there listening, giving

support as well as a great company when I was desperate for fun activities away from the computer. Kristina Bäckström, all the great talks we have had in our office. It has been a pleasure. Also, thank you to all the rest of the PhD colleagues, it has been great to talk and share experiences and ideas with you.

There have also been other colleagues that have given me great support, feedback or encouragement over the years. Carina Sjöholm, thank you for all the great talks we have had, I appreciate all the time and support you have given me. Lisa Högdahl, I value all the talks we have about everything as well as teaching together. Erika Cederholm Andersson who has always been supportive and given good feedback. Malin Zillinger, first thank you for reading and being opponent at my final seminar but also for listening and encouraging me and not to forget to mention those fun times away from the office. There are also many other colleagues from the department that has given me feedback at seminars and so on and I appreciate all the time you have given me and my work. From outside the department I would like to thank Anne Marit Waade for many interesting conversations. Kjetil Sandvik for being my opponent at my final seminar and who gave me a lot of comments that improved this dissertation. All the participants at the ITAM conferences, especially Anne Buchmann, Warwick Frost, Jennifer Laing, Sue Beeton and Glen Croy for all the feedback and great talks about media and tourism. Thank you Lise Myhre for giving me permission to use the Nemi strip.

Thank you my friends for listening to me all these years talking about my dissertation and giving me great times away from the computer. LC, I appreciate I can always call you and talk. Victoria, Sara, Cristina, Maria for just being great friends and always supporting me. Karin and Mie, thanks for all dinners, walks, cups of tea, laughs and practical help during this stressful time. One friend has given me extra support and that is Chris Shaw who has helped me with improving the English language in all the five papers. Your touch with the language has given the papers something extra, I owe you big time!

Finally, I would like to thank my parents and since they do not speak English this is in Swedish for them. Tack mamma och pappa för att ni alltid finns där och stöttar mig oavsett vad jag hittar på i livet. Ni har varit ovärderliga under åren jag har jobbat med min avhandling och jag uppskattar all praktisk hjälp jag fått med allt från gräsklippning i kolonin till goda middagar.

If I have forgot to mention someone it is unintentional and you know that I appreciate you anyway!

Landskrona den 27 april, Maria Månsson

# 1 Introduction

#### Stockholm in Millennium thrillers' footsteps

Are you a fan of Stieg Larsson's fictional trilogy about journalist Mikael Blomkvist and computer hacker Lisbeth Salander? Experience Stockholm from the characters' perspective – with a little imagination, it will feel like you are part of the suspenseful mystery as the plot unfolds. Guided tours are available, but you are welcome to explore the settings on your own. (Visit Stockholm, 2011)

New Year's Day 2011, in a cold, snow-covered Stockholm I took part in a guided tour in the footsteps of the Millennium trilogy. I feared that I might be alone with the guide due to the weather conditions and the choice of day. However, there were roughly 35 of us from a range of countries, such as the US, the UK, Poland, Finland, Denmark, Germany, France and Sweden, who had decided to spend a few hours on the streets of Stockholm in the framing of the Millennium novels and films. Since the launch of these guided tours in 2008 there has been ongoing interest: in 2010 there were 284 tours drawing roughly 10,000 participants (Millenniumrapporten, 2011), but now the number of participants is up to more than 50,000 (Stadsmuseet Stockholm, 2015). This guided tour has now been listed by Lonely Planet among the top 10 literary walking tours of the world (Lonely Planet, 2014). On top of that, it is also possible to obtain a map of the sites in the novels and the films and walk the tour route independently. However, Stockholm is not the first destination to use popular cultural media products such as popular films and novels to market their destination and develop tourism products such as guided tours. Interest in the intertwining of the tourism sector and the media sector is growing among tourists, tourism producers and other sectors, such as film commissions (organisations that aim to attract film-making to their regions and provide support for productions). It seems like everybody is now jumping on the bandwagon, especially given the success of 'The Lord of the Rings' in boosting tourism to New Zealand. However, it is questionable whether watching a film or reading a book is all that is needed to get people to travel to the depicted

destinations. Rather, there must be other processes involved that need to be further explored since not all films or books trigger such tourism.

Though, there are many places that have become known for their connection to popular culture. Ystad, for example, a small town in the south of Sweden, is a destination offering a plethora of tourist activities linked to popular culture. This town is known for Henning Mankell's police procedural novels about Inspector Kurt Wallander. The novels have also been turned into TV productions, both Swedish and British, and theatrical films (Ystad, 2011). In Barcelona, Spain, it is possible to join a literary guided tour in the footsteps of either 'The Shadow of the Wind' or 'The Cathedral of the Sea' (Barcelona Turisme, 2011). For those more interested in films shot in Barcelona there are self-guided film walks on offer, each dedicated to a single film like Woody Allen's 'Vicky, Cristina, Barcelona' or a director such as Pedro Almodovar (Barcelona de pelicula, 2011). For tourists in New York it is possible to take part in guided bus tours to different TV and film-related sites. It is marketed as "[...] you will see for yourself where your favourite actors, personalities and characters from [...] TV shows [...], live, work, and play!' (Screentours, 2011). Sites that are included are for instance from old films such as 'Breakfast at Tiffany's' to contemporary TV series such as 'Gossip Girl'. Similar tours are also found in the UK, tours in connection with the TV series 'Downton Abbey' being particularly popular (Månsson & Eskilsson, 2013). It is not only Western popular cultural media products that inspire travellers to visit related destinations; Bollywood film locations, too, inspire Indian tourists to travel to countries like Switzerland to visit places seen in films (Gyimothy, 2015). Similarly, Korean TV dramas called Hallyu, popular in Southeast Asia, inspire Southeast Asian tourists to visit South Korea. This interest has carried over into film and music, creating a growing interest in Korea as a tourist destination (Korea Tourism, 2011).

Due to its perceived popularity it is not so strange that popular culture is now used strategically for destination marketing. Korea's tourism organisation, for example, utilises tourists' interest in Hallyu and related popular cultural phenomena to market their destination. This destination marketing through popular culture was also done by Tourism Australia, using the film 'Australia' by Australian director Baz Luhrmann (Tourism Australia, 2009). Moreover, Visit Britain is using different films to market specific destinations or regions in Britain. In 2010 Visit Britain collaborated with Universal Pictures, key tourism agencies and local authorities in relation to the film 'Robin Hood'. The aim was to get more tourists to go to Nottingham, Sherwood Forest, and other places

associated with the story. The marketing plan included a designated Robin Hood website that enabled visitors to follow a Robin Hood trail (Visit Britain, 2010). These new promotional practices led to documented growth in visitor numbers. The numbers of tourists to sites associated with the 'Robin Hood' film grew in 2010: Nottingham castle had 5.5% more visitors and Sherwood Forest had 7% more international visitors, compared to the year before (Visit Britain, 2010). In Sweden Visit Sweden has used the aforementioned Millennium trilogy to market Stockholm and Sweden to potential tourists. The trilogy was very popular in France, for example; therefore, Visit Sweden targeted this market segment with special campaigns. This was done through press visits from France and collaborations with French travel agents who added Stockholm as a destination to visit, a trip that included the Millennium guided tour (Visit Sweden annual report, 2009). This interest was also reflected in accommodation statistics for Stockholm: in 2008, French visits had gone up by 20% compared to the year before (Visit Sweden, 2009).

The cases mentioned this far involves clear links to specific films or novels as the particular destinations are where the story unfolds. The small village of Júzcar in Spain, now marketed as the Smurf village, presents a completely different case. For the marketing and release of the animated film 'The Smurfs' all the houses in the village were painted blue for marketing purposes only. They kept the blue-coloured houses, and the village has now received many tourists, going from an annual 300 visitors to more than 80,000 visitors even though the film is animated and the village was not used in the film at all (EuroScreen case studies, 2013). Thus, there is more to it than a particular place having been featured in a film, since as this case shows a commercial shot for the premiere of an animated film can also generate tourism. It is therefore something beyond the single media product in itself that generates tourism interest, but the question is what? The question is then how can we understand this phenomenon and the various processes involved in the intertwining of tourism and popular culture media? A substantial amount of the existing research about this phenomenon has explored it from a place marketing and producer perspective with a single media product in focus. As will be discussed in the next section, there is therefore a need for new perspectives, which address this phenomenon in a wider context and from a tourist perspective.

## Introducing the framework

As put forth in the introductory paragraph, there is an emerging global interest in the linkages between tourism and popular culture media products from the perspectives of diverse stakeholders, such as destination marketing organisations, film commissions and tourists. Popular cultural media products are viewed, from destination managers' perspectives, as tools by which to differentiate a destination from others and attract tourists to it (Månsson & Eskilsson, 2013). Thus, popular culture is to some extent a new tool for place marketing.

Place marketing is an umbrella term for marketing strategies for attracting visitors, residents, tourists, businesses and investments to a particular place. It is defined by Hospers (2010, p. 190) as 'the long-term process and/or policy instrument including all those different, related activities that are aimed at retaining and attracting specific target groups for a particular city'.

There has been a growing interest in place marketing particularly from people involved in urban planning and tourism marketing (Hospers, 2010) and the literature concerned with place marketing has grown steadily in the last decades (Kavaratzis & Ashworth, 2008; Lucarelli & Brorström, 2013; Skinner, 2008). The growing interest from different disciplines has created a rich flora of concepts and place marketing is one of them, others refer to place branding, for example. Branding is by some researchers considered as just one aspect of marketing (Hospers, 2010). However, Governs (2011) argue that place marketing and place branding are different concepts that support each other. According to Skinner (2008), place marketing, as a concept, refers to wider aspects beyond branding. Accordingly, place marketing deals with a place's overall management - 'a place can then be considered as a location having a single identity with multiple facets, a history, and cultural heritage, and preexisting perceptions, and be managed as a history, and cultural heritage, and pre-existing perceptions, and be managed as akin to a corporation, market getting, from an outside-in approach by its multiple stakeholders, in partnership' (Skinner, 2008, p. 923). Branding, in return, is the inside-out perspective focusing mainly on promotional activities (Ibid.)

Place marketing in itself is not a new phenomenon (for a historic overview see Ward, 1998) but the strategic and conscious use of marketing in selling places is new since the 1980's (Ashworth & Voogd, 1994). Kotler et al. (1993) argue that places can be treated just like products: the same marketing logic can be

used for a product or a place. This is a view that has many followers (Rainisto, 2003). However, other researchers are highly critical of the perception that places can be treated just like products (Ek & Hultman, 2007; Kavaratzis & Ashworth, 2008). They argue that place marketing contributes to the commodification of places, which neglects their complexity. Place marketing therefore has to include many aspects, and as argued by Kavaratsis and Ashworth (2008), place marketing should rather be seen as the management of a place image, with marketing being just one of the attributes involved. What then is an image? An image is defined by Lawson and Baud Bovy (1977, p. 10) as the expression of all objective knowledge, impressions, prejudice, imaginations, and emotional thoughts an individual or group might have of a particular place. Hence, image is vital in enabling tourists to distinguish one place from another when selecting a destination to visit (Dumbrăveanua, 2010). Place marketing is therefore seen as an important tool by which to construct tourist gazes, due to its potential impact on tourists' images (Hospers, 2009).

Place marketing has now been introduced; however, from now I will instead use the term destination marketing, given the focus of this dissertation, as this is the phrase most commonly used in a tourism context (Braun, 2008; Hankinson, 2010; Hanna & Rowley, 2008). Destination marketing implies that the marketing is directed at tourists, but the destination itself can be a region, a city, a small location within a region or city, or even a whole country. For tourist organisations, destination marketing is the main tool for creating awareness amongst tourists about their destination (Kotler, Haider, & Rein, 1993; Rainisto, 2003). However, there is fierce global competition for tourists' attention, and countries, regions, cities, etc., are all in the game. A key part of destination marketing is therefore the selection of destination images in marketing material – however, there is a range of marketing material in circulation and different techniques that influence tourists' images, so choosing from this abundance of options can be challenging.

There are a range of methods and genres available in the marketing of destinations – everything from traditional marketing campaigns by destination marketing organisations, to word-of mouth and independently produced material on the Internet, such as Social Media (McCabe, 2009; Pike, 2008). Some of the material in circulation is producer-generated material, such as brochures and guidebooks, whereas a lot of material that has an impact on tourists' images is produced without an intention to attract tourists to destinations (see, further, Falkheimer & Thelander, 2007; Gartner, 1993; Jenkins, 1999; Mercille, 2005). This could be social media, like blogs and

YouTube (Pan, MacLaurin, & Crotts, 2007; Tussyadiah & Fesenmaier, 2009), or popular cultural media products, such as film and literature (Busby & Klug, 2001; Iwashita, 2006). Thus, popular cultural media products are a part of tourists' images of destinations because they convey information and meanings about destinations (Falkheimer & Thelander, 2007; Morgan & Pritchard, 1998). Heldt Cassel (2007), in her study of the Swedish archipelago, showed that tourists' images of the destination were inspired by art - Swedish writers such as August Strindberg, films and TV series ('Vi på Saltkråkan' and 'Skärgårdsdoktorn'), and music (Evert Taube). Braun (2008:18) argues, therefore, that it would be relevant to address the media in relation to destination marketing, because televised media, Internet and other media are influential and do have an impact on economic, social and cultural aspects of destinations, due to their role in peoples' and companies' decisions (Braun, 2008). Tourism organisations already deliberately use popular cultural media products to market their destinations, and leverage the growth of collaborations between different stakeholders, as they all see a win-win situation in the growing interrelationship of media and tourism (Heitmann, 2010; Hudson, 2011).

That there is a burgeoning research interest in the intertwining of popular cultural media products and tourism, can be seen in the number of published articles and special issues on this topic in tourism journals (Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing, 2008, Volume 24, Issue 2-3; Tourism Analysis, 2009, Volume 14; Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes, 2011, Volume 3, Issue 2) and the dedicated academic conferences dealing with media such as film and tourism (2nd International Conference on Impact of Movies & Television on Tourism in 2009: International Tourism and Media Conference - ITAM a bi-annual conference that began in 2004). Thus, it is known in the research that tourism and popular culture are linked, but the phenomenon has primarily been studied from a single-medium perspective, such as film tourism (see for example Roesch, 2009) or literary tourism (Herbert, 2001). The research conducted has been vital in demonstrating the importance of this emerging field of research, but it is now time to expand the research field to highlight the processes of multimediality. As in the Millenium case that started off this chapter, they were novels that later were turned into films. It is therefore difficult to separate the impact of one media product from that of another. It is possible that film and literary media products are not the only media products to undergo this intertwining, as there are many other media products available for tourists to consume. Another aspect that is important to address is how these intertwining media products impact tourists. This is vital knowledge because if tourists are not properly understood, it will be difficult to use popular culture for destination marketing purposes. However, this far most of the research has focused on destination marketing issues and not on the tourists involved in these processes (Connell, 2012). It is therefore relevant to explore in what sense these intertwined media products are part of tourists' understandings of places as well as part of tourists' activities. Consequently, I am interested in the intertwined media products in relation to tourists' actions of place.

Since this is a dissertation within service studies, specifying on tourism as a part of the service sector it is primarily based on tourism research - however, I will incorporate research from other disciplines such as media and communication in order to comprehend further the processes and transformations at play in the intertwining of tourism and media. This in accordance with service studies, as a research field, which has an interdisciplinary approach. The reason for this is that media research has not been fully accounted for in current research, even though popular cultural media products are in focus, a view advanced by Long & Robinson (2009). This is in line with Beeton (2010) and Connell (2012) who argue that an interdisciplinary approach is needed to develop film tourism research. An overall approach for this dissertation is furnished by the concept of mediatization, a recently emerged strand of media research that focuses on media's overall impact on our society and culture (Hjarvard, 2008a), thus including tourism. Mediatization is relevant to address because popular culturally related tourism is still seen, to some extent, as some kind of niche tourism activity (see, e.g., Long & Robinson, 2009). Moreover, Roesch (2009) concluded that tourists taking part in 'The Lord of the Rings' tours in New Zealand were one-off film tourists: they would do it on this occasion but never again. However, mediatization stresses that media profoundly change society and therefore tourists and the destinations visited as well. Another media concept that is introduced in this dissertation is convergence. Convergence highlights the intertwining of media products available on different media platforms simultaneously, and the co-creation by producers and consumers. In this case a producer could be another consumer (Jenkins, 2006). Convergence and mediatization are then used to explore the actual tourist because there is a lack of research that focuses on the tourists in these processes (cf. Connell, 2012). Thus, even though there are some good pieces of research that focus on the film tourist – for example Buchmann (2010), Carl et al. (2007), Kim (2010, 2012), Rittichainuwat and Rattanaphinanchai (2015) and Roesch (2009) there is a need for a broader perspective to explore the tourist in relation to a wider media use since media products converge and the lines of demarcation between them become blurred.

It is therefore important to explore tourists' activities and tourists' sense of place in relation to media products consumed and used. Convergence is therefore applied in combination with performance, since they both highlight the active role of the tourist in the place created. The performance concept comes from the critique of the tourist gaze that was considered too passive to be capable of exploring the tourists (Edensor, 2000, 2001; Ek et al, 2008; Franklin & Crang, 2001). Performance encapsulates the notion that tourists are part of creating destinations, alone or with other people, in combination with a multitude of other elements, such as media (Baerenholt et al., 2004). Thus, in this dissertation, destinations are seen as something created by tourists' performances and media are part of this creation. It is therefore relevant to address the different processes that are initiated in the intermingling of tourist performances, destinations and media.

## Aim and research questions

The aim of this dissertation is to explore the different processes that emerge when tourism and popular cultural media products interweave, placing special emphasis on tourist performances and destinations.

It is known that tourism and media are interwoven with each other, but *how* this interweaving occurs is empirically discussed in this dissertation. The processes explored in this dissertation are dealt with in five papers, each of which involves a different research question, as listed below. The first paper is an introductory book chapter that introduces the concept of mediatized tourism to develop a foundation that is explored further in the subsequent papers.

1. How do intertwined media products impact tourist behaviour? (Paper I)

The second paper is an article that takes the above examination a step further by applying the concept of mediatized tourism. The aim is to establish an overall approach by applying convergence, a new media perspective, to media-related tourism from a tourist perspective.

2. How can convergence be applied to empirically explore and contextualise changes in tourism consumption? (Paper II)

As mentioned, there are media products in circulation that are consumed by the tourists. The circuit of culture model (Johnson, 1986), recognised as a tool for understanding the transformation of meaning in marketing (Giovanardi, 2011), is also used by Squire (1994) and Herbert (2001) in their studies of literary tourism. This model highlights the interrelationship of text producers, the texts themselves, the readers and their decoding of texts (in this case the tourists), and

the surrounding society. The third paper focuses on one aspect of convergence, namely, media convergence, while analysing the texts in circulation in destination marketing.

3. How is an attraction represented in different media products and how do their meanings converge? (Paper III)

The fourth paper, a chapter in an edited book, addresses authenticity in relation to tourist performances. Urry (1990) has argued that tourists have a mediatized gaze that is influenced by a range of media products. Furthermore, tourists view only sites that have been seen before. Thus, being a tourist is a primarily visual activity. The stress on the visual aspect of being a tourist has been criticised, by Perkins & Thorne (2001), for example. They argue that tourists perform rather than gaze. This text therefore takes a performance approach in order to study tourists visiting a tourist attraction and the implication this has for the authenticity of the attraction.

4. How are tourists' perceptions of tourist attractions affected by a physical visit as well as by popular cultural media products? (Paper IV)

The final paper of this dissertation is an article that further explores the performance perspective elaborated by Edensor (2000, 2001). This is combined with the circuits of culture model in article III, though this time there is a shift of focus from the texts to tourists' decoding of the texts in relation to their performance while visiting a destination. The aim is to develop a further understanding of tourist performances and their sense of place in relation to media.

5. How are tourists' performances of place related to their reading and understanding of media products? (Paper V)

A single case is used throughout the different papers in order to study the mediatization aspects of tourism. The empirical research site for this dissertation is Rosslyn Chapel outside Edinburgh in Scotland. It is a place that came into the limelight after the novel 'The Da Vinci Code' by Dan Brown (2004) and the subsequent Hollywood filmatisation of the novel, released in 2006. Each paper takes a different theoretical approach and uses different methods. Consequently, the empirical material differs from paper to paper, ranging from social media forums on the Internet to guidebooks, observations and interviews with tourists. While I consistently use the same site, I view it through different theoretical approaches are explored; the remaining theories are explored in the individual papers.

## Layout of the dissertation

This dissertation consists of an introductory section divided into seven main chapters, which is to be followed by a section that contains the references used in the dissertation. The first chapter is an Introduction, as already presented. It provides an overview of the phenomenon in focus and presents the aim of the dissertation and the questions individually explored in the papers. The second chapter, Popular culture and tourism, is a literary review focusing on previous research that highlights tourism, popular culture, media products in circulation, literary tourism and film tourism, and concludes with a discussion about what is missing and needs to be explored. Chapter three, Mediatized tourism, elaborates my own perspectives on mediatization, convergence and media convergence and tourism, concluding with a discussion about mediatized tourism. Chapter four, Mediatized tourist performances of place, further explores my own perspectives. An initial discussion of media and tourist agency is followed by a discussion of tourists' sense and performances of place, and, finally, mediatized performances of place. Chapter five, Methodology and empirical material, reviews and discusses methods used, while chapter six, Paper summaries, summaries the five individual papers. The final chapter, *Conclusions*, presents the findings of the individual papers and the overall conclusions of the dissertation. The introductory section is accompanied by the following five papers, consisting of three articles and two book chapters:

- Paper I: Månsson, M. (2009). The Role of Media Products on Consumer Behaviour in Tourism. In M. Kozak & A. Decrop (Eds.), *Handbook of Tourist Behaviour. Theory and Practice* (pp. 226-237). London, New York: Routledge.
- Paper II: Månsson, M. (2011) Mediatized tourism. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 38(4), 1634-1652.
- Paper III: Månsson, M. (2011). Media convergence Tourist attractions in the making. *Tourism Review International*, 15(3), 227-241.
- Paper IV: Månsson, M. (2010). Negotiating Authenticity at Rosslyn Chapel. In B. Timm Knudsen & A. M. Waade (Eds.), *Re-Investing Authenticity* (pp. 168-180). Bristol: Channel View.
- Paper V: Månsson, M. (2015) Mediatized tourist performances of place. Submitted manuscript to Tourist Studies.

# 2 Popular culture and tourism

This review chapter starts with a discussion on popular culture in combination with tourism, followed by a section focusing on circulating popular cultural media products and their impact on tourism and, consequently, tourists. That in turn is followed by two sections that review the existing research relating to popular culture and tourism, particularly literary tourism and film tourism. The reason for choosing these two media products is that they have attracted increasing interest from destination marketing organisations, tourists and the academic community. The chapter ends with a discussion of the strengths and limitations of the previous research and how to move forward.

The concept of popular culture emerged during the industrialisation and urbanisation of society (Storey, 2012). It is hard to define, however, and there is no clear definition of what it actually is. However, attempts to define popular culture often mention certain aspects of it, the following six categories being the most common (Storey, 2012). The first is the quantitative aspect, that is, that popular culture is something that is produced in large quantities; it is massproduced (Mechling, 2008; Storey, 2012). This aspect is troublesome in the sense that defining the amount that characterises popular culture is difficult, when you have texts like the Bible that are mass-produced. The second aspect refers to popular culture as something that is defined in contrast to what it is not, namely high culture. In other words, high culture is defined, and then whatever is left out of the definition is considered popular culture. This somehow implies that high culture is better than other forms of culture, so popular culture is often seen as something that is simpler and of lesser quality than high culture (Fornäs, 2012). High culture is therefore often considered something for an elite and exclusive group of people, whereas popular culture is used and consumed by the masses in their ordinary lives (Lindgren, 2009). The third aspect discusses these aspects further, defining popular culture as a highly commercial culture that is easy accessible or, in simple terms, is about entertainment that is mass-produced and mass-consumed (Mechling, 2008; Storey, 2012). The fourth aspect defines popular culture as something that originates with the people in cultural forms such as folk music (Storey, 2012). Popular culture is then something made by the people, but this begs the question, 'Who are the people?' The fifth aspect is popular culture defined in terms of Gramsci's perspective of hegemony, in which a dominant group's views are imposed on subordinate groups. In other words, popular culture is defined by the ruling class and then imposed on other groups in society through constant struggle (Storey, 2012). What is considered high versus popular culture is therefore shifting and not fixed in time. It all depends on who has the power to state what high versus popular culture is at any given moment (Fornäs, 2012; Long & Robinson, 2009). The final aspect is a more postmodern view in the sense that postmodern culture no longer recognises the distinction between high and popular culture. The boundaries between products blur and it is very difficult to distinguish products that are high versus popular culture - it all depends on the individual consumer. The top-down perspective, according to which popular culture is produced for the masses who then passively consume it - is therefore no longer valid (Storey, 2012). The reason for this is that just because products are consumed by many people does not mean they all interpret the media products in the same way, as will be addressed in chapter 4, and more specifically in paper V in this dissertation. Fiske's definition is therefore interesting as he views popular culture as something 'made by the people at the interface between the products of the culture industries and everyday life' (Fiske, 1989, p. 23). In order to be popular culture, a product has to be interesting to people (Ibid.). This perspective takes into consideration the agency aspect of the consumer, as will be addressed later.

If previously a boundary was believed to exist between high culture and popular culture, now it is difficult to know what is what. Popular culture may exist in various forms - popular fiction, films, concerts and sports, for example. But popular culture can also be tourist experiences. Since popular culture is something mainstream, made popular by the people, tourism is very much a part of it (Collins-Kreiner & Tueta Sagi, 2011; Long & Robinson, 2009). Tourism viewed as popular culture differs from the earlier position according to which tourism was viewed as something separate from ordinary life - for example, tourism viewed as a route to extraordinary experiences (Urry, 1990). However, tourism as popular culture is part of people's everyday life. According to Hannam and Knox (2010) tourism is a manifestation of the same activities and practices that people have at home. Furthermore, they argue, knowledge and practices arising in everyday life are part of life as a tourist. Thus, life as a tourist is not about extraordinary experiences but rather ordinary things that people do at home - for example, socialising with the same family members that you would at home (Urry & Larsen, 2011). Edensor (1998, p. 200) views tourism as a 'set of contesting and ever-changing performances'. He also stresses that tourism is something that is ongoing, is embodied and has an active nature: tourism is seen as a process (Edensor, 1998, p. 200). Tourism as part of everyday life as well as tourism as an ongoing process make up the foundation of this dissertation.

But tourism is not just a part of popular culture; it also influences popular culture. The language and practices of tourism influence novels and films, for example, such as the novel and film 'The Beach' which depicts a backpacker in Thailand in search of a secret island (Jensen, 2009). Another example is discussed by Gibson (2006), when comparing the novel 'A Room with a View' by Forester with its filmatisation. While the novel portrays tourists and tourism in rather a critical manner, the film has instead adopted the language of tourism in its projection of the location. The film uses a postcard style in 'selling' the locations, whereas the original novel was critical of tourism-related phenomena. In other words, popular culture influences tourism and vice versa. The examples just mentioned are all fictional popular culture media products. Popular film and literature have recently attracted great interest amongst tourism practitioners and tourism researchers, as indicated in the introduction. This is not surprising, as it is argued that we live in a media-saturated society (Hjarvard, 2008a). People now encounter media images constantly on a range of platforms, such as film, television, mobile phones, computers, iPads, and so on. Popular culture therefore plays an important role in spreading images of destinations and people (Long & Robinson, 2009) and creating platforms on Internet social forums for tourists to spread their own messages to potential new tourists (Munar, 2011). Popular culture will therefore have an impact on tourism, in terms of both actual tourists and tourism managers and planners. The next section will therefore address popular cultural media products in more detail and their relevance for tourism and, especially, the tourist.

## Popular culture media products in circulation

There are a number of popular cultural media products in circulation – from a range of genres – that have an impact on tourists and tourism organisations: for example, media products produced by marketing organisations, such as brochures, labelled by Gunn (1997) as 'induced material'. These are products that are produced with the aim of persuading tourists by providing positive images of destinations. However, they are considered less trustworthy by tourists

compared to other types of material (Gartner, 1993; Falkheimer & Thelander, 2007). Media products that are seen as trustworthy are those that are produced with non-touristic purposes, that is, 'organic media' (Gunn, 1997). Organicmedia products might be, for instance, popular culture film and literature, news (Falkheimer & Thelander, 2007), or social media, such as blogs, YouTube, Facebook and other consumer-generated content (Munar, 2011; Tham, Croy & Mair, 2013).

Butler (1990) argued as early as 1990 that film and TV programs represented the latest progress in a long line of media products that inspired tourists to create an image of a destination. Popular culture as destination marketing had already begun to evolve in the Grand Tours period, through paintings, which moved on to postcards, photos, posters, and so on (Butler, 1990). In the same year Urry (1990) published 'The Tourist Gaze', which established a discussion around Foucault's concept of the gaze. By applying this concept, Urry argues that tourists' gazes are formed and developed by historical and other societal changes. He also argued that being a tourist is a highly visually driven activity: tourists are gazers. Places are selected to be gazed upon, because there is an interest in these places, created by external sources such as film, TV, literature, magazines, music and so on (Ibid.). In the updated version of this book (2011) Urry and Larsen continued the previous argument by arguing that tourists have a mediatized gaze. That is to say, tourists gaze on destinations that are associated with some kind of media product. Urry and Larsen illustrate this argument by highlighting tourists' interest in visiting places in Hollywood or the set or other locations connected with the British soap opera 'Coronation Street'. Butler as well as Urry and Larsen argue that a mix of media products, such as popular culture in general, have an impact on tourists' images and performances.

As I have shown, there is a range of media products in circulation, from the classic media genres of destination marketing, such as brochures, to new genres, such as film and social media, that have an impact on tourists. Therefore, the constant flow of media products, on its own or in combination, could have an impact on how people imagine destinations (Couldry & McCarthy, 2004; Falkheimer & Thelander, 2007; Moores, 2005), on how people want to experience different destinations (Iwashita, 2006; Jansson & Falkheimer, 2006; Jensen & Waade, 2009) and on the marketing of destinations with the tourists as highly active information sharers on various online social media forums (Munar & Jacobsen, 2014). All of a sudden it is not just destination marketing organisations that are marketing their destinations, since tourists are now doing it, too (as discussed in paper II). The flow of media products therefore has an

impact on tourism managers, marketing and planners. With new groups of visitors to destinations – such as the case studied in this dissertation, Rosslyn Chapel – the managers and planners have to adapt to a new situation with huge numbers of new visitors, as was the case after the release of the novel 'The Da Vinci Code', and with even more visitors after the film release. For VisitScotland, on the other hand, it was a new marketing opportunity to promote Scotland through 'The Da Vinci Code'.

Butler (1990) thought that film would overshadow other media products in the future due to its power as a visual-media product as well as its global reach. However, now, more than 20 years after his research was published, we can see that other media products have been added to the mix rather than excluded – for example, Internet social media. However, I shall review the research conducted in film as well as literary tourism before proceeding to discuss the ways in which different media products add to each other. The reason for adding on literary tourism is that while literary and film tourism are closely connected, in the research they are usually treated as distinct phenomena, notwithstanding the fact that many of the most popular films are based on literature (cf. Roesch, 2009). The reason for presenting previous research according to the form of the media product studied is that that is how these media products have been researched, and still are, to some extent. I shall first present this research by form and then highlight the limitations that result from this media-specific focus, in the final part of this chapter.

## Literary tourism

This section will outline the research that has been conducted in the area of literary tourism with a particular focus on the tourist perspective. Literature has a long tradition influencing tourists' images of a destination as well as the activities they engage in during their visit. This tradition began during the period of the Grand Tours and continued in Britain in the 19<sup>th</sup> century, with tourists visiting places associated with authors such as William Shakespeare's Stratford-upon-Avon, Robert Burns' Alloway and Sir Walter Scott's Abbotsford (Watson, 2009). It is therefore not new for tourists to be interested in visiting destinations associated with certain writers, since it has existed for several centuries. These early literary tourists were interested in visiting places that authors had written about or in, their birthplaces or graves, and their homes (Ibid.). Herbert (2001) came to the conclusion that modern day visitors' reasons

for visiting certain literary sites were the same the historical visitors' reasons for visiting literary sites. Firstly, tourists are attracted to places that in some way are connected with a writer's life (Herbert, 2001): it could be the writer's home or where the writer wrote. Squire (1994), for instance, analysed Beatrix Potter's home, Hill Top in the Lake District of England, and the visitors who came to that location. Secondly, literary tourists are attracted to the setting of the novel and want to see it for themselves (Herbert, 2001). Thirdly, tourists are interested in visiting literary sites because they bring out deeper feelings not necessarily connected with the text itself (Herbert, 2001; Iwashita, 2006; Squire, 1994). Visiting Hill Top triggered feelings associated with childhood memories and family life - things not directly linked to the books themselves - as the feelings had more to do with the visitors' personal lives (Squire, 1994). Fourthly, literary tourists are interested in special events or dramatic episodes in the authors' lives (Herbert, 2001). Finally, tourists who visit literary sites might do so unintentionally. They might go there for the ambience and discover the significance of the place while visiting; or their main motivation might be to accompany friends or family (Busby & Klug, 2001; Herbert, 1996, 2001). Literary tourism has been associated with literary pilgrims, that is, tourists who wish to visit places connected with a writer's life. However, the numbers of tourists who visit literary places out of curiosity or general interest outnumber the literary pilgrims (Herbert 2001).

What has been described so far is a rather traditional view of the so-called literary tourist. Laing and Frost (2012) take a slightly different view of literary tourism. They acknowledge earlier research but argue that literature inspires tourists in many different ways before people even leave their homes. People acquire different cultural aspects by reading about how to travel, what to expect, other people and cultures, and the difficulties involved in travelling. Butler (1990) makes a similar argument when it comes to understanding culture, for instance: what people think of today as truly Scottish - modern kilts and so on - is actually a creation derived from Sir Walter Scott's novels. So in this sense literature is not just inspiration for visiting some writer's home to pay homage, as it gives people ideas about travelling and frames the potential experience. Furthermore, in their research Laing and Frost (2012) discuss how different genres of literature create different understandings for the reader that will impact him or her as a tourist. Consequently, a children's book and a crime novel might have disparate cultural impacts on the reader. Moreover, what is missing from the traditional take on literary tourism described in the beginning is the interaction with favourite writers that tourists can enjoy in, for example, general literary festivals or special dedicated festivals focusing on a special writer, as discussed by Sjöholm (2011) in relation to her exploring the Du Maurier festival in Cornwall and the Agatha Christie festival. In her research she shows how many different elements are combined in the tourist's visiting, with the actual novels being just one facet of it all.

As stated earlier, tourists have long been inspired in their travelling by literature, and this has not gone unnoticed in the tourism industry. Right from the beginning, a whole industry associated with literary tourism started to grow with souvenirs, literary guidebooks and plaques to aid the tourists - and this industry continues to flourish. In the UK, literary guidebooks have been published since the 18th century, starting in the Romantic period with its fondness for the Lake District (Watson, 2009). Literary guides, which are still published, tend to keep to the same formula: writers selected to be included in these guides are what could be considered classic writers; hardly any writer still alive is included (Philips, 2011). A similar tendency can be seen in literary guided tours - in Edinburgh, for example, where the general literary tours focus primarily on classic writers who are long dead. Modern and contemporary writers, such as J. K. Rowling, author of the Harry Potter novels, are left out, although the tours do pass by places associated with this writer. Contemporary and popular writers seems to not be included in these tours, which have more of a traditional classic, high-art approach than highlighting the popular culture of today.

However, it is not just the writers who are selected in literary guidebooks; it is also the places depicted. There is a tradition of favouring places that are picturesque rural locations (Philips, 2011). Consequently, urban life and places have been neglected in favour of a nostalgic rural past. This is interesting because many of the examples listed in the introduction chapter, Stieg Larsson's Millennium trilogy being one of them, are all set in urban places. Consequently, literary tourism may now attract tourists to new areas in cities rather than the countryside, because contemporary writers and popular genres such as crime fiction are attracting a lot of attention from tourists. For instance, it is possible to take guided tours in the footsteps of Inspector Rebus in Edinburgh, or Inspector Wallander in Ystad, to mention just two examples. Crime fiction is a literary genre that has received attention lately from academics. For example, the tourism to Ystad generated by the Inspector Wallander novels and films has been studied by several researchers in different ways (see for example Jensen & Waade, 2009; Reijnders, 2009; Sjöholm, 2010; Waade, 2013).

As indicated above, literary tourism is not a new phenomenon but rather one that has grown in recent years, from both a tourist as well as a tourismmanagement perspective. Writers and their novels with different places depicted in them are used to promote regions or towns by marketing organisations with the aim of attracting visitors. According to Herbert (2001, p. 313) 'Literary places are no longer accidents of history, sites of a writer's birth or death; they are also social constructions, created, amplified, and promoted to attract tourists'. Literary tourism is in this sense used by marketing organisations to package a destination in order for tourists to consume it. This has created another body of research on literary tourism that takes a more management perspective (Watson, 2009), or is designed more for planning purposes in general (see e.g. Müller, 2006; Ridanpää, 2011). However, Watson (2009) criticises published research on literary tourism, even though there is an emerging body of research covering both social as well as management aspects of literary tourism. She argues that much of the existing research has a too singlefocus, narrow perspective - for example, tourist studies have their own agenda, and literary studies have theirs. The crossovers between different fields of research have been limited, and further studies intertwining different aspects are needed (Watson, 2009). Furthermore, tourist studies of literary tourism have been criticised for being overly focused on image and tourists' motivation, for example, and the methods used are mostly surveys and quantitative techniques. What is missing in the tourist studies research is research that is aware of reading practices and the terms of literary production as well as the fact that literary tourism is in many cases viewed as a phenomenon in its own right and not clearly linked to film and other media products. While there are some exceptions, however, such as Sjöholm (2011), who addresses the hybridity involved in literary tourism, this needs further exploration.

This section has focused on literature as a single medium and the tourism generated by interest in writers and depicted places, and on the impact of novels on our understanding other cultures. Literature as a media product would, it was expected earlier, be overpowered by film as a motivator of tourism (Butler, 1990; Kim & Richardson, 2003); however, literature is still popular, because many of the successful film tourism destinations are connected to literature, an example being Tolkien's 'The Lord of the Rings' and the tourist interest in New Zealand generated by the filmatisations. Accordingly, literature and film are closely linked, and film tourism is therefore the focus of the next section.

## Film tourism

The number of articles covering film tourism has grown extensively over the past couple of years and this section will outline the main themes of this trend. Film tourism research has been conducted within tourism as well as in other disciplines such as media and communication. Film tourism research is still rather new and expanding, and different names are therefore in circulation. It may be labelled movie-induced tourism, film-induced tourism, media tourism, media pilgrimage, film tourism, and so on (see Karpovich, 2010, for an overview). As indicated in the heading, I have chosen film tourism. The research conducted on the impact of TV is also included, as I see the two as part and parcel of the same phenomenon. However, before moving on it may be useful to clarify that when I talk about film, I am referring to feature films and when I talk about TV programmes, I am referring to programmes such as Korean TV dramas, Hallyu, or 'Heartbeat', and other British programmes that have been the focus of the research outlined below. Consequently, news programmes, travel shows, documentaries, reality shows, and so on, are not the focus of the research presented here, although these programmes could also have an impact on tourism.

Film tourism is defined as tourism that is related to tourists who visit a destination or attraction as a result of the destination being featured on television, cinema or DVDs and similar products (Hudson & Ritchie, 2006b). Beeton (2005) expands this definition to also include what she calls offlocations: film-induced tourism is 'visitation to sites where movies and TV programmes have been filmed as well as tours to production studios, including film-related theme parks' (2005, p. 11). An example of the latter is the Warner Bros. Studio Tour London - The Making of Harry Potter - which opened in 2012. It is a tourist attraction that takes visitor on a permanent behind-thescenes walking tour of the world of film-making and the sets of the Harry Potter film series. The tour is located on the same site where Warner Bros. filmed the Harry Potter series for over 10 years (Månsson & Eskilsson, 2013). Therefore, film tourism is not just about the filmed locations. In fact, it is a rather loose concept that includes many aspects of tourism that include film. However, it is interesting that Beeton's definition stresses that it is sites that 'have been filmed' that are of interest, because this neglects tourists who are interested in visiting locations where actual filming takes place while they are watching (cf. Ward & O'Regan, 2009). In Sweden, to give just one example, there was much hype when the Hollywood version of 'The Girl with the Dragon Tattoo' was filmed.

Newspapers offered maps and information on the locations where filming was to take place on particular days (e.g., UNT Millenium, 2011). So the filming itself is an attraction, not just its final result.

As mentioned, there is growing interest in film tourism, from both practitioners' and researchers' perspectives, but when did it all start within academia? Research addressing film tourism started to appear briefly in the 1990s. The key articles were contributed by Riley and van Doren (1992), Tooke and Baker (1996), Riley, Baker and van Doren (1998) and Busby & Klug (2001). These articles based their arguments on Butler's (1990) and Urry's (1990) arguments dealing with media's influence on tourists' gazes and images. However, film was singled out as a media product, since it was seen as product that would continue to grow in importance for tourists. These earlier studies primarily discussed the importance of film and TV in creating a growth in visitors to attractions and destinations portrayed in film or TV productions and what factors in the films contributed to tourists' image of the filmed locations and motivations for visiting them. Film tourists are, according to Riley et al. (1998), attracted by any of the following factors in the film: the scenery - that is, the settings of the film; the storyline; the characters in the film; and finally exiting events within the film. This can be compared with the characteristics that are considered to attract literary tourists. For film tourists it is the content of the film that is attractive - the scenery, story and so on. For literary tourists it is to a large extent primarily external factors - such as the writer's life, the feelings aroused in the reader upon reading the book, and similar attributes - that have been highlighted. However, the places depicted and the actual story in the novels are equally important as the scenery and the story in films, although these aspects are not emphasised as much in relation to literary tourism. But to use the case study for this dissertation, the novel 'The Da Vinci Code' (Brown, 2004) created a growth in visitors to Rosslyn Chapel outside Edinburgh in Scotland (VisitScotland, 2003), a site that has nothing to do with the writer. Hence, the factors that attract literary versus film tourists are not that clear-cut, and some researchers therefore argue that film and literature are interchangeable, as they are parts of the same package (Busby & Klug, 2001; Iwashita, 2006). Before proceeding further with this discussion, however, I shall review and discuss the main themes in research on film tourism from a business and management perspective, as well as from a tourist perspective, to clarify the strengths and weaknesses of this research in order to position the present dissertation.

#### Business and management perspectives on film tourism research

The early research attempted to define film tourism from a business perspective. It focused on film tourism as a potential tool for marketing destinations, showcasing visitor numbers to validate the phenomenon, and what managers of tourists destinations could gain (Beeton, 2010). The business and management approach is still prevalent in the newer research. One highly cited article that employs a management perspective is by Hudson and Ritchie (2006b). In this article they identify the following several factors that managers need to take into consideration in order to develop film tourism: film commission and government efforts, location feasibility, destination attributes, film-specific factors and, finally, destination marketing. Thus, there are many factors that are of importance from a management perspective and some of them have been dealt with in the research by Beeton (2005), Hudson (2011) and O'Connor, Flanagan and Gilbert (2009). Another factor of importance for managers is the different stakeholders involved in the development process. Heitmann (2010) identified destination management organisations, the film industry, tourism businesses, the municipality and its inhabitants, and tourists as the key stakeholders. To this could also be added film commissions (see further Di Cesare, Salandra, & Craparotta, 2012; Månsson & Eskilsson, 2013). The different partners required for a collaborate have therefore gained further attention in the research by, for example, Cynthia and Beeton (2009), O'Connor, Flanagan and Gilbert (2010) and Ward and O'Regan (2009). Thus, while different stakeholders do need to collaborate, the research has shown that some tourism organisations are still unfamiliar with focusing on film tourism, since there has been uncertainty as to who should do what in a collaboration, and a lack of knowledge of the film sector from a tourism perspective, and vice versa (Di Cesare et al., 2012).

One of the factors listed above as a key issue in film tourism management is marketing. Hudson and Ritchie (2006a) argue that these five factors are important, if a film is to function successfully as marketing and thus generate tourism: the success of the film; identifiable and accessible locations that tourists can visit; the need for some iconic features that are clearly associated with the destination and a story linked to the location; the exposure time of the destination on screen; and, finally, that the location needs an appealing image (Ibid.). Thus, according to these factors it is not just any film that will work as marketing: the film has to meet certain criteria in order to attract tourists. Furthermore, films are seen as a highly powerful form of marketing in their ability to create awareness of a destination. The reason is that these products create new or exciting twists on destinations while adding another layer to the understanding of a destination with new themes not previously associated with it (Iwashita, 2008). A common marketing tool recognised in the research is movie maps. Movie maps are used both to raise awareness of the destination and to encourage an interest in visiting the portrayed places (Beeton, 2005; Busby & Klug, 2001). The movie map becomes a method of packaging a destination to make it attractive as well as accessible to tourists. The first movie maps appeared in the 1990s. One of the first to be released was a British movie map by BTA (the British Tourist Authority, currently known as Visit Britain), which portrayed 60 years of British film and TV (Busby & Klug, 2001).

Film as a tool for creating awareness of a destination is also a common theme in the research. For example, Di Cesare et al. (2012) showed that 90% of European tourist-destination marketing organisations thought films would increase awareness of a destination and enhance its brand. Films are therefore seen as highly interesting in the marketing of a destination, because they could in the long run lead to an improved image amongst potential visitors (see further Horrigan, 2009; O'Connor, 2010). Film and TV could also rebrand a destination as Connell (2005a) discussed in an article that focused on the tourism created by a children's TV programme called Balamory. The small village of Tobermory on the Island of Mull in Scotland was used as a film location, and all of a sudden new groups of visitors, namely children with their parents, were visiting the town. What can be concluded from this research is that a film or TV product can create awareness for a destination or alter an already existing image. There are many other cases in the research that highlight this rebranding effect – for example the discussion by Kucharska (2012) of the case of the Polish town Sandomierz where the TV series 'Father Matthew' is filmed.

The above-mentioned themes are the major ones in the published research; however, there is also research that deals with the impact of film tourism on local entrepreneurs (Connell, 2005b; Connell & Meyer, 2009). Other studies deal with its impact on local entrepreneurs and the local community, involving potential conflicts from a sustainability perspective (Beeton, 2007, 2008; Connell, 2005a; Mordue, 2001; Winter, 2002). The management approach in film tourism research is still rather dominant, with its focus on marketing plans and destination impacts, especially with visitor numbers, and so on; however, there is a growing body of research that focuses on the actual tourists.

### The tourist perspective on film tourism research

If earlier research applied a management and, in that sense, destination-impact perspective, there is a growing body of research that is interested in the film tourists. One theme of this research is the impact of film on tourists' image of destinations. In one of the earlier studies Kim and Richardson (2003) compared people's perception and image of a particular destination before and after seeing a specific film featuring that place. The results were compared with a control group who did not see the film. The authors concluded that those who had seen the destination in a film felt more attached to it. This study has been repeated with other cases but with more or less the same results (see for example, Hahm & Wang, 2011; Hudson, Wang, & Sergio, 2011; Soliman Dalia, 2011). This line of research offers limited theoretical development, as to a large extent it only offers new instances supporting the understanding of the phenomenon. Iwashita (2006) took another approach in studying Japanese tourists' image of Britain in combination with the media products (film and other types of media products) they had consumed. She noticed a clear connection between image and media products: a image that did not change after a visit. Mercille (2005) also studied media products consumed, including film, the image the tourist had of Tibet before visiting, and tourist's perception while visiting. His study showed that a limited amount of media products had a profound impact on tourists' image of the destination. A similar result was found in a study focusing on the Italian film 'Basilicata - Coast to Coast': the film depicted a rather unknown region in the south of Italy, and the researchers argue it changed people's image of that region (Bencivenga et al., 2012).

While some researchers have studied the connection between film and image, others are interested in the motivation of film tourists. This is a theme that was initially almost neglected in the research; now, however, more and more studies are being presented. This research lists many motivational factors – Macionis (2004, p. 96), for example, listed the following factors as film tourists' motivations: place (e.g., location), performance (e.g., storylines or plot), and finally, personality (e.g., cast). Busby and Klug (2001), on the other hand, identified other factors as motivational factors of film tourists, such as following in the footsteps of their favourite actors, and being in the actual location of the story, to mention just a few. Other factors that have been identified as potentially important for the tourist are pilgrimage, escape and nostalgia (Riley & van Doren, 1992). Hence, a film tourist could be motivated by many different factors at the same time. In a study by Macionis and Sparks (2009) they identified some slightly different factors that are more in line with the

general tourist, namely, to have fun and feel entertained; film tourism was seen mainly as something special and new that could be added to the overall holiday. In their research they also concluded that visiting a destination connected to a film was not the main reason for visiting (Ibid.). This differs from the dedicated film fans, who Roesch (2009) explored thoroughly, for whom the visit to the filmed destination was the main motivational factor. Thus, motivational factors are one stream of the film tourist research, but as Roesch (2009) concludes, there are many sources that can influence tourists' image and motivate them to travel, whether film fan or generic film tourist, and it can therefore be difficult to accurately identify their motivation and choice of destination.

Another emerging theme focuses on tourists' performances and experiences, which have been explored by scholars such as Buchmann (2010), Buchmann, Moore and Fisher (2010), Carl, Kindon and Smith (2007), Iwashita (2006, 2008), Law, Bunnell and Ong (2007), Mordue, (2005), Reijnders (2011b), Roesch (2009) and Kim (2010, 2012). This theme has been identified as a theme that needs further research (Connell & Meyer, 2009; Connell, 2012) and is therefore dealt with separately in chapter 4 and explored in paper V. Some researchers have also focused, while studying film tourists, on authenticity (for example, Banyai, 2010; Bolan, Boy & Bell, 2011; Buchmann et al., 2010; Couldry, 1998; Frost, 2006; Sydney-Smith, 2006; Tzanelli, 2004, 2006), a theme that is further developed in chapter 4 and in paper IV.

## Limitations and possibilities

This chapter initially discussed popular culture and tourism, then more specifically discussed two different media products (literature and film) that have an impact on tourism as well as tourists. Although there is research that also addresses other types of popular culture, such as computer games and film in relation to tourism to Angkor Vat in association with the film 'Tomb Raider' (Winter, 2002). Here, Winter also discusses the impact of popular culture on a heritage attraction and the conflicts of interest arising between visitors and management. There is also research that highlights music-based tourism: Leaver & Schmidt (2009), for instance, explore tourism to Graceland and Liverpool as heritage and nostalgia tourism. There are then numerous examples of popular culture-related tourism, but common to most of the published research is that it has a single-media focus – such as film tourism. However, in order to develop new knowledge, a more comprehensive approach is needed, because tourists

consume and use a range of media products simultaneously (cf. Karpovich, 2010; Mercille, 2005; Ryan, Yanning, Huimin, & Song, 2009; Sjöholm, 2011; Young & Young, 2008). So instead of talking about film or literary tourism, it would be more accurate to label it media tourism according to Reijnders (2011a). In this dissertation I employ another approach, applying the concept of mediatized tourism (introduced in paper I) to further develop our understanding of popular culture and its impact on tourism and tourists, as will be further developed in chapter 3 and explored in paper II.

Furthermore, by applying mediatization and convergence theories developed in media research I will deal with the criticism that has emerged in past research, namely, that it has too narrow a focus (Connell, 2012; Watson, 2009). It is argued that the research would benefit from an interdisciplinary perspective that would take into account research in other disciplines, and not use only, say, tourism or literary perspectives (Connell, 2012; Karpovich, 2010; Long & Robinson, 2009; Watson, 2009). There is a call for research that embraces an interdisciplinary approach – especially media and communication research (Beeton, 2010; Karpovich, 2010; Long & Robinson, 2009). I will therefore apply relevant media theories in order to further explore the intertwining of media and tourism taking into account the changes in the media sector as well as tourists' altered media consumption, which will be further developed in the next chapter.

Another aspect that is missing from past research is exploration of the actual media products focused on in film tourism research. Beeton (2004) argues that by analysing the films in play it is possible to understand the tourism associated with them. In other words, the media products themselves, not just the tourism potential created, are important. Even though there is a lack of research, certain articles exist that are exemptions to this, such as Kim, Long & Robinson (2009) who analyse the circulation of Hallyu TV dramas, and Frost (2010), who explores the representation of rural Australia in 22 films as well as the impact of historical films on the destination image (Frost, 2006). Reijnders (2009) and Sadler and Haskins (2005) analyse episodes of TV programmes or series in order to identify the images of the places portrayed, while Mestre, del Rey and Stanishevski (2008) have developed a set of film typologies depending on the image created by the film. Mercille (2005), on the other hand, studied the interrelationship of media consumed by tourists and their image of the portrayed destination; similarly, Kim (2012) explored tourists' involvement with media products and whether it had an effect on their experiences at the destination. The lack of research that studies not just tourists' image of a destination but also the representations found in the actual media products is highlighted by Mercille (2005). However, selecting media product would surely be difficult, because tourists consume and use a range of media products at the same time. Moyle and Croy (2009) concluded that 178 visitors to the national park they researched had used a total of 703 information sources. On the other hand, it is emphasised that in order to understand popular culture and tourism, a multimedia approach is essential; therefore, paper III explores a range of circulating media products and the impact they have on a destination as regards marketing and the overall narration of the destination.

It is stressed that is important to analyse the media products in circulation in relation to the associated destination, but it is equally as important to understand how the products impact tourists' performances and understanding of place. Connell (2012) argues, for instance, that tourists' experiences need to be further explored, even though there is a growing interest in addressing these aspects. My research differs in the sense that it takes a multimedia approach, whereas Connell argues specifically from a film tourism perspective. However, in order to advance new knowledge, the media genre limitations need to be abandoned and replaced by discussion of all relevant media products, exploring tourists performances and understanding of place, as will be discussed in chapter 4 and explored in paper III and V.

Finally, another prevalent criticism of the research reviewed in this chapter is that it focuses solely on creating new cases without advancing knowledge in the field (Connell, 2012; Heitmann, 2010; Karpovich, 2010; Young & Young, 2008). To begin with, the cases were predominantly from the UK or the US, but this has now been changed to include cases from all over the world. New cases in themselves are therefore not needed just to prove that the phenomenon exists, because that is already confirmed. Furthermore, the cases often tend to be superficial, offering limited theoretical development. I have therefore decided to use the same case throughout this dissertation but shift my focus in each paper.

While this chapter has outlined the published research in the field, the next two chapters will develop the theories that I argue need to be applied in order to advance our existing knowledge.

# 3 Mediatized tourism

The previous chapter highlighted the need for new perspectives while addressing the interrelationship of popular culture and tourism, particularly from an interdisciplinary perspective. Therefore, this chapter develops perspectives that I argue enhance our understanding of the intertwining of media and tourism. This involves a combination of research derived primarily from the fields of media studies and tourism studies. The first aspect considered is the concept of mediatization which highlights the media's role in our culture and society. It is followed by another concept, convergence, and more specifically, media convergence. This concept addresses the changes in media production as well as tourist agency as media consumers and users. The aim is to discuss how these concepts are relevant to the exploration and further development of an understanding of media-related tourism.

## Mediatiztion

Mediatization, a concept that emerged in media and communication studies in the past decade, is 'used to analyse critically the interrelation between changes in media and communications on the one hand, and changes in culture and society on the other' (Couldry & Hepp, 2013, p. 197). The concept was developed particularly in new media research, in which it is used to emphasise the transformative aspects of media (Couldry, 2008). Furthermore, mediatization emphasises the intensified and changing importance of media in our culture and society (Hjarvard, 2008b). According to Schulz (2004, p. 88) mediatization is related to changes in communication media and their development. The following processes of change were identified: *extension*, *substitution*, *amalgamation* and *accommodation*. The first process focuses on how media extend human communication in place and time. Substitution stands for media's role in replacing social activities that formerly had to take place face-toface. For example, tourists can now write about and post photos of places on social media like Facebook while travelling; before, it was not until tourists came home that they could show and tell about their travel experiences. Amalgamation represents the insight that 'media activities not only extend and (partly) substitute non-media activities; they also merge and mingle with one another' (Schulz, 2004:88). Hence, media activities intermingle with other kinds of activities at the same time. Fornäs (2006) showed how people's shopping and media behaviour intermingled in a shopping centre. The final process is accommodation: this process highlights media's influence on sectors outside the media sphere – for example, politicians' adaptation to the language of media when presenting themselves (Schulz, 2004). Hjarvard, (2008a, 2008b) has a similar argument when argueing that media has its own logic to which other institutions respond while at the same time as media is becoming a part of institutions such as politic institutions. It is therefore a double process, in which media influence other sectors while also being influenced by other sources. Crouch et al. (2005) present these double processes in an anthology of different examples in which the media influence tourism and vice versa. In the previous chapter, cases with the films 'The Beach' (Jensen, 2009) and 'A room with a view' (Gibson, 2006) were used to illustrate the influence of some sort of tourism language on popular cultural media products, in the sense of how the different places were exposed. But it is not only different sectors that are influenced, however: Hjarvard (2008a) stresses that even private aspects of people's lives are affected by media - for example, people's language, children's play, and even religious matters, as will be addressed in my last paper (V). This article explores the case of tourists' use and understanding of media products in relation to religion and spirituality, for example, in the making of Rosslyn Chapel.

Media permeate every aspect of the society, changing relations among individuals and between individual, and the society, and this is happening to an ever increasing degree with the media mediating more and more (Livingstone, 2009). Society is thus becoming increasingly dependent on media and their logic (Hjarvard, 2008b). However, not all researchers agree on this understanding of mediatization, and there is an ongoing discussion of the concept in media and communication research (see for example Deacon & Stanyer, 2014; Ampuja et al., 2014). Hepp (2009), for example, is against the idea of mediatization as something linear, because that implies that something becomes more and more mediatized. He is also against the notion of the media logic penetrating every aspect of society as there are other processes at play at the same time – a criticism that is also prevalent in Couldry's (2008) discussions on mediatization. However, where Couldry wants to dismiss the concept completely, Hepp is more accommodating. In his more recent research, Couldry has altered his perception and find it a relevant concept (Couldry & Hepp, 2013). Hepp (2009) sees it as useful concept, as long as it does not imply a single-medium logic, but is used instead as a frame for understanding the relationship between media and cultural change. It is in this sense that mediatization becomes interesting for the interrelationship of tourism and media.

The mediatization process is also referred to by Jansson (2002a), who sees an intertwining of media and consumer cultures. Jansson (2002a) defines mediatization as 'the process through which mediated cultural products have gained importance as cultural referents and hence contribute to the development and maintenance of cultural communities. In other words, the mediatization of culture is the process that reinforces and expands the realm of media culture' (Jansson, 2002a, p.14). Moreover, he argues that media and consumption are intertwined to the extent that consuming products and media texts are almost the same thing (2002a, p. 6) - for example, the consumption could include tourism. Jansson (2002b) links his discussion of mediatization in tourism to the tourist gaze, which has become intertwined with the consumption of media images, even though tourists also consume mediated representations. Jensen and Waade (2009) also highlight mediatization while exploring the interrelationship of media and tourism. They argue that media do not just change tourist's performances when they are visiting a destination, as media have a profound impact on all social interactions and ways of communication. Jensen and Waade (2009) argue that hypermedialisation is a better concept because it includes the performance aspect of mediatization as well as the blurring of fiction and reality. However, I do think the mediatization concept is fruitful, but it needs to be connected to the concepts of convergence and performance in order to capture processes involved in the intertwining of tourism and media from a tourist approach.

### Media convergence and tourism

The next media concept introduced to be in this dissertation chapter is convergence – in particular, media convergence. Like mediatization, this concept was developed in new media theory; initially, the concept focused primarily on technological convergence in media production. However, since then the term convergence has come to encompass a multitude of ongoing processes (Knight & Weedon, 1995). Jenkins (2006) describes convergence in the following way:

Convergence represents a paradigm shift – a move from medium-specific content that flows across multiple media channels, toward the increased interdependence of communications systems, toward multiple ways of accessing media content, and toward ever more complex relations between top-down corporate media and bottom-up participatory culture. (Jenkins, 2006, p. 243)

There has therefore been a shift in media production, as a multitude of media platforms are in use at the same time. Moreover, the quotation also implies that media products might as well be produced by consumers themselves as by traditional media producers. In the tourism context, this means that now the destination marketing material a tourist might consume and use might well be produced by another tourist rather than, say, a destination marketing organisation. Convergence, then, highlights the fact the production processes of media products have changed and the distinction between producer and consumer has become blurred (Deuze, 2007; Jenkins, 2006). Media companies used to be specialists – that is, they either published books or produced films. However, today media production companies operate on a range of media platforms simultaneously (Jenkins, 2006). When the same story or variation of the story is displayed on a large number of media platforms concurrently, due to ownership or collaborations, it is labelled a 'cross-media circuit' (Bechmann Petersen, 2006) or 'transmedia storytelling' (Jenkins, 2006). The term has now been shortened to 'transmedia' only and it refers to 'the increasingly interconnected and open-ended circulation of media content between various platforms, where the subjects previously known as 'the audience' are increasingly involved in the production of flows' (Jansson, 2013, p. 287). The audience's - or rather the tourists' - involvement is addressed in the next chapter.

The content of one media product can be spread across multiple platforms to give extended experiences of media products, as illustrated by Brooker (2001) in his analysis of consumers' interactions with the TV series 'Dawson's Creek'. He concluded that there is an overflow of material from the programme to other arenas, such as different sites on the Internet, including sites set up by the producers of the show: for example, they created a version of the main character's desktop including emails for the TV viewers to read and take part in. Other platforms, such as merchandise and CDs of the music from the TV series, were also used (Ibid.). A similar example is found in Evans' (2008) study of the TV series 'Spooks' and its viewers. Again, media platforms were created

on the Internet enabling viewers' further interaction with the story. 'True Blood' is another TV series that used a multimedia approach to launch and promote the programme (Hardy, 2011). In this case a range of platforms were used – for example, key bloggers were selected to write about the programme, fake websites for the fictitious organisations in the programme were created, short 'minisodes' were placed on Facebook, and there was collaboration with producers outside the media sector, such as Gillette – to give a few examples of the platforms used (Ibid.). This deliberate linking of products to other texts via a range of media platforms is referred to as 'commercial intertextuality' (Hardy, 2011; Jansson, 2002a; Örnebring, 2007). Intertextuality in itself is nothing new, however (Cherry, 2003 who shows how artists, in their art work, have followed in the footsteps of other artists): new media like the Internet have only sped up the interactions between media products (Fornäs, 2002a; Jenkins, 2006). The media convergence aspect is highlighted in paper III.

If a company does not own all the platforms it requires, it can use collaborations as a method by which to gain access to a range of media platforms other than by owning them. Such collaborations can take various forms. Let it be noted, however, that collaborations between the media sector and the tourism sector are increasingly frequent, as is illustrated by the many examples provided in the introduction and seen in practice in European Interreg projects such as EuroScreen (www.euroscreen.org.uk), which aims to bring the tourism and film sectors closer in order to create regional growth. For tourism organisations, these joint ventures create an opportunity for destination marketing through product placement in popular cultural media products, as well as increased destination awareness, while media companies achieve access to destinations and consumers. Recent examples of such collaborations include the partnership of Sony Pictures with VisitScotland, VisitBritain and Maison de la France on the film 'The Da Vinci Code' (VisitScotland, 2006); the cooperation between New Line Cinema, which produced 'The Lord of The Rings' film trilogy, and Tourism New Zealand (Carl et al., 2007); and the collaboration between AB Svensk Filmindustri and West Sweden's tourism organisation on 'Arn the Movie' (Arnmagnusson). These are just three examples, but there any many to be found in a global spectrum (more cases and examples of collaborations are found in Månsson & Eskilsson, 2013).

The convergence concept has been criticised: not everybody is as enthusiastic as Jenkins (2006), who understands convergence as something encompassed by agency, participation and collaboration. Furthermore, he argues that the change in production increases consumers' powers. However, Jenkins has been

criticised for overrating consumers' powers. In a criticism of Jenkins' paradigm shift, Örnebring (2007) analyses the same processes in this way:

Convergence culture does not work to dissolve the boundaries between texts and create trans-media narratives as much as it creates new opportunities to market a specific text or set of texts (such as a feature film, a computer game or a TV series) through other texts – i.e. there is still a 'hierarchy of meaning' among texts, where there is a clearly identifiable ur-text [...] that is marked through other texts. (Örnebring, 2007, p. 448).

Instead of leading to consumers gaining power, convergence according to Örnebring is just a new marketing tool for media companies: it is still the media companies that hold the real power of the *Urtext*, not the consumers. For instance, Örnebring claims that makers of films see other media platforms such as comic books and computer games as merely new arenas for selling more products in order to enhance profit. It is a commercial intertextuality, according to Örnebring (2007), and consumers do not gain power from media convergence, because they are still in the hands of global media companies in which consumers are not involved on equal terms. This is accurate in some cases, but on the other hand, Jenkins (2004) argues that although media companies learn how to make the best use of media platforms, consumers learn how to take control of the media flow at the same time. Hence, tourists influence the production and distribution of media, as is discussed in the next chapter and further addressed in paper II.

As shown, different viewpoints are possible, whether you have a critical understanding of convergence or see it more from a cultural perspective (Couldry, 2011; Hardy, 2011). One way or another, convergence is an important issue to address, to expand our knowledge of the intertwining of tourism and media, because it highlights both the media products in circulation that tourists consume and use as well as tourist agency. It is therefore used as an analytical tool in this dissertation. The agency perspective is further developed in chapter 4 and paper V in relation to performance and sense of place.

## The expansion of mediatized tourism

The previous two sections of this chapter introduced two media concepts that in my understanding are necessary to further explore the processes that take place in the intertwining of tourism and media from a broader and interdisciplinary perspective than merely exploring film tourism in itself. There is research that does employ such an interdisciplinary, broader perspective, although it takes a different approach. Crouch and Lübbren (2003), for example, compiled an edited book that attempts to explore the interrelationship of visual culture and tourism by combining an art historian's and a geographer's perspective. It is accompanied by a range of contributions that exemplify these different approaches. Another text that involves an interdisciplinary perspective is Crouch, Jackson and Thompson's (2005a) 'The Media & the Tourist Imagination', which explores the interrelationship of media and tourism. In their understanding, 'tourist imagination' is the bridging concept between tourism and media and it is seen as a personal mode of understanding and feeling about the world that enhances notions of liberation and limitations at the same time. The included chapters take either a media- or tourism-focused approach to explore the convergence of tourism and media. They address that both tourism and media are simultaneously embedded in a multitude of flows (Crouch et al., 2005b). Hence, there is no single outcome of these processes, since there are so many going on simultaneously. This anthology brought up many interesting issues and advocated for an interdisciplinary approach to studying the convergence of tourism and media; however, as shown in the previous chapter, in a lot of the research that focus in tourism and media (especially film), this has not been the case.

From these seminal anthologies to other items, we proceed to subsequent publications that add new perspectives to the phenomenon in question. Waade (2006), a media researcher, developed an analytical model that was further developed by Jensen and Waade (2009). The model highlights the different modes of tourism that exist, in their understanding. This entails imaginative tourism, corporeal tourism and mediated tourism, and how they are influenced by varying degrees of media processes labelled as mediated, medialised and hypermedialised. It is the last of these processes that is of interest for this dissertation, because it is similar to the way in which mediatization is viewed in this dissertation. Hypermedialisation is according to Jensen and Waade (2009) a complex process, in which the producer and user/consumer of media are not clearly defined. It is a process in which media-generated content is mixed with

a tourist's own experience of a destination. Hence, a media product is not just a source of inspiration, such as a tourist brochure or something in which images are incorporated and repeated without reflection by the tourist. The hypermedialisation (mediatization, in my terminology) will have an effect on the destination; therefore, the process is placed between imaginative and corporeal tourism (Jensen & Waade, 2009). The perspectives in this book are similar to the perspectives chosen for this dissertation, with its clear focus on the ongoing processes between media and tourism in a broad sense in relation to a destination. The difference is in the point of view: their work takes a media point of view to explore the media's importance and relevance for tourism, whereas mine uses a service studies and tourism point of view to explore the impact of media on tourism and on tourists in various processes.

Other recent publications include Reijnders (2011a), who added to the expanding body of research dealing with media tourism, a term he prefers because it recognises the multimedia character of the phenomenon. He addresses the importance of content as well as the relationship between story and portrayed place and the tourists, while exploring media tourism. Scarles and Lester (2013) brought together a global spectrum of researchers to explore media and tourism in a broad sense. Their aim was to show the complexity of the processes in the relationship between tourism and media, in order to highlight the plurality that is involved in mediating tourist behaviours and destinations. They argue that 'each manifestation of mediated practices and processes holds the possibility of becoming a vehicle for mobilising discourse and discursive interpretation of the interrelationships and affiliations between place, space, self and other by both producers and consumers of mediated texts' (Scarles & Lester, 2013, p. 2). The perspective of this anthology is in line with this dissertation since they discuss how they want to mobilise new understandings of mediatization and touristic contexts. Clearly, then, the mediatization perspective introduced in publication II is also used by other researchers in order to further explore tourism and media interplays.

The mediatization and media convergence perspective is also explored by others while discussing popular cultural media and tourism. Gyimothy et al. (2014) developed a manifesto with a model that describes what they call a 'popcultural place-making loop'. The model uses Ateljevic's (2000) 'circuit of tourism' as a starting point in order to discuss the drivers, characters and impact of popcultural place-making (Gyimothy et al., 2014). Gyimothy et al. (2014) propose that popcultural tourism is driven by fun cultures, collective and user-driven, stimulated by media convergence, thrives on hyper-real narrative layers,

reorders traditional place-making logic and, finally, bears upon eventification policy implications. This text is founded on a similar understanding as is the present dissertation, as these researchers also highlight media convergence as key to the understanding and exploration of tourism and media. The convergence perspective is also prevalent in the focus on fans as drivers, on user-driven activities and on the changes in who is marketing destinations.

There is therefore a growing body of research that explores tourism and media from an interdisciplinary perspective; however, there is still a call for further research that explores the interrelationship of popular culture, tourism and media, and draws on research from a range of disciplines. In this chapter I propose using the concepts of mediatization and convergence to further study the intertwining processes of tourism and media that I have labelled mediatized tourism. Similar perspectives are, as I have shown, favoured by other researchers. The concepts are applied and put into a tourism context in the different accompanying papers, in order to explore how the intertwining actually is occurring.

# 4 Mediatized tourist performances of place

This chapter links mediatization and convergence, described in the previous chapter, to the concept of performance, which was developed as a criticism of the focus on the visual aspects of tourism. What convergence and performance have in common is an understanding of the media consumer, or rather tourist, as an active agent. Tourists no longer just consume and use media products to subsequently search for and repeat these representations when visiting a destination. Tourists are now seen as highly involved in the place that is created for both themselves and for other tourists through the medium of marketing materials, which is further explored in this chapter. There is then a shift from passive tourists who gaze to tourists as performers. The chapter first addresses media and tourist agency, then proceeds to discuss how media are connected to tourists' sense of place. The final part of this chapter further develops the agency perspective by exploring tourists' performance of place, especially mediatized places.

### Media and tourist agency

The concept of convergence introduced in the previous chapter implies that consumers of media products play an active role. Consumers no longer just consume and use media products; therefore, they are just as likely to be producers of new media content as consumers of it (Jenkins, 2006). Consequently, when tourists produce media texts for other tourists to consume and use, the distinction between consumer and producer is weakened. A lot of the production and interaction takes place on the Internet (Williams, 2008). The active role of the tourists – in generating media products, for example – has created a shift in the research perspective. Instead of viewing the tourist as someone who is passive, more research now focuses on tourists' activities, on

the Internet for example, and their impact on both the destination and other tourists. Certain examples of this research focus on tourist-generated material on the Internet on social media, such as blogs: blogs give open reader access so that anyone can read the posted material and make comments to the writer. Blogs are important because they provide opportunities for people not previously acquainted with one another to interact without the involvement of a third party, such as a tourist organisation (see, for example, Pan et al., 2007; Schmallegger & Carson, 2008; Wenger, 2008). Other prominent consumergenerated products are YouTube video clips, which can also affect potential tourists' conceptions of places they could visit (Tussyadiah & Fesenmaier, 2009). Hence, social media shift consumers to becoming also producers of media products, products that are put into circulation, thus acquiring the potential to be consumed by other potential tourists. User-generated content is therefore important for other tourists and destinations simultaneously, as this material has an impact on the marketing, and hence the image, of different places, once the material becomes an electronic word of mouth (Munar et al., 2013). The study of social media in a popular cultural tourism context was explored by Lexhagen, Larson and Lundberg (2013) while exploring Twilight fans. They concluded that social media are key in enabling fans to interact with each other, make travel decisions and participate in various events. There is a growing body of research that deals with social media and tourism in various ways; in this dissertation, however, social media are used primarily to explore tourists' narratives and understandings of place, their interactions with other tourists and the implications of this on destination marketing, which is explored in paper II.

Furthermore, in addition to the view of tourists as producers of media products there is the view of tourists as picking and choosing from circulating materials and making their own combinations and interpretations (Jenkins & Deuze, 2008). This is an aspect that will be further discussed in paper V, in which tourists' decoding of media in relation to their sense of place is discussed. Consequently, when consumers' use blends products and blurs product distinctions, it becomes difficult to determine where one product starts and another begins. This contrasts with early media studies that had a linear sender/message/receiver perspective, in which the media consumers were perceived as passive dupes who simply absorbed media texts without reflection (Hall, 1996, though first published in 1980). This perception is to some extent still prevalent in tourism research, although there has been a shift in research perspective. It is understood that when tourist destinations provide the perfect marketing, which creates a positive image, the tourist will come and gaze at images previously seen. Hall (1996) criticises this passive view of the consumer, arguing that it is better to look at the different moments in the communication process: production, circulation, distribution/consumption and reproduction. It is a circular process whereby messages are encoded by producers (Jansson, 2002a). In this context, a producer could be a traditional tourist marketing organisation or, just as likely, another tourist who produces media material that is accessible on different social media platforms.

The tourists then decode or recode the message. According to Hall (1996), the decoding occurs in three ideal ways. The first is a dominant decoding whereby the consumer performs a reading that is close to the media producers' encoded intention. The second decoding is a negotiated reading, that is, some of the encoded intentions are accepted whereas others are rejected. The final and third decoding is oppositional: it is a reading that is completely different from the intended reading and understanding. Thelander (2002) applied Hall's approach to a tourism context when analysing tourists' understanding of travel advertisements. In her research she concluded that tourists used any of three tactics. First there were the gullible, who believed everything in the ads; then there were those who associated them with lived experiences; then there was the final group, who had a more critical understanding.

Moreover, Jansson (2002a) argues that due to consumers' decoding, processes such as commercial intertextuality are not a dilemma because a text is always decoded by its users. In their reading they blend and merge the decoding with their own previous experience (Burgess, 1990; Falkheimer & Thelander, 2007; Johnson, 1986; Squire, 1994). Hence, media consumers are not passive dupes, but rather active agents who are highly engaged in interactions with their choice of media products (Deery, 2003; Jenkins, 2006; Williams, 2008). However, the actual reader (in this dissertation referred to as a tourist) has been to some extent neglected in the research, according to Bruhn Jensen (2010). It is important to study tourists because it is the tourists who make sense of different texts as well as connect them to each other on the basis of their own experience. The decoding perspective is explored in combination with tourists' performances of place (discussed later in this chapter and in paper V).

This section has highlighted how tourists are active when it comes to the production of new media products. However, tourists are also active in a process of media decoding, which implies that the meaning to tourists of media products is subject to individual interpretation. It is therefore relevant to address how the process of media decoding affects the tourist's understanding of place before discussing how this is manifested in the tourist's actual visit to a destination.

## Media and sense of place

In this section, media are discussed in relation to space, place and sense of place, since tourism is an encounter between people and, even more importantly, between people and space (Crouch, 1999). Moreover, tourism happens in space and this space can be highly material and concrete and can surround people as well as something metaphorical or imaginative (Ibid). Crouch uses the word space rather than place, the two concepts being seen as slightly different, because 'a place represents a distinctive type of space that is defined by the lived experiences of people' (Hubbard et al., 2004, p. 5). A place is therefore a specific space that is made through different activities, such as naming, for example, and people's interactions with this space. For this reason I have chosen to use place in this dissertation because place is something that is made, or rather performed, by tourists. If a place is seen as something produced through a range of actions and interactions, the meanings of places are fluid and not fixed in time (Ek, 2006). The meaning of a place is therefore highly individualised, although it can be shared with others. When talking about meaning, it is also relevant to address the sense of place. Tuan (1975) argues that a sense of place is something that is experienced with all senses over time in close connection to a particular place. In his words, space is the unknown, whereas place is what is known to people. Rose (2002, p. 88) defines sense of place as something that 'develops from every aspect of individuals' life experience and that senses of place pervade everyday life and experience'. Other aspects that are commonly referred to are that the sense of place requires presence (being in) and action (being with), and this process is influenced by physical, historical, social, and cultural aspects that together create a sense of place (Campelo et al 2014, p. 155). Therefore, a sense of place requires an engagement, rooted in everyday life, with a place.

Another term common in the field of tourism is destination. Buhalis (2000) defines a destination as an amalgamation of all products, services and experiences that are available locally for tourists. In this sense destinations are more or less defined by what they offer to tourists, whether that be a service or a good. Some even argue that a destination is like a product that can be sold to tourists. However, this is not the perspective applied in this dissertation. The perspective of this dissertation is more in line with those of Saraniemi and

Kylänen (2011), who argue that in order to understand destinations it is necessary to discard the idea of a place as a product and see it rather as a process in constant motion. Lichrou, Malley and Patterson (2008) offer another perspective beyond the product idea, namely that of places as narratives: 'the framing of places as narratives highlights the dynamic and contested nature of places as social contexts, constantly constructed by means of shared language and symbolic meaning' (Lichreau et al, 2008, p. 36). A destination is therefore not a simple product that can be packaged and sold, since it is rather something that is socially constructed by its users.

A sense of place is highly personal: in the making of a place tourists are influenced by a range of sources in everyday life. Of particular interest for this dissertation are media, especially, popular cultural media products. However, these products will never be the sole factor creating the sense of place, since there are several simultaneous processes. Recently, however, media and the interrelationship of media with place have been the focus of research, and in media and communication there has been a spatial turn (Jansson & Falkheimer, 2006; Reijnders, 2011a). There is an interest in exploring how communication produces places and places, simultaneously, produce communication. The boundaries between media and place become blurred when media is consumed on the move due to the mobility of people as well as of materials (Jansson & Falkheimer, 2006). In other words, media's influence stretches far beyond media culture itself, and it is argued that the constant flow of media could have an impact on how people imagine other places (Couldry & McCarthy, 2004; Fornäs, 2006; Moores, 2005). Media shape people's understanding of place and, even more importantly, impact their actual use of place (Couldry & McCarthy, 2004). As place and media become increasingly intertwined, media create a desire to visit places encountered in media. The media function, according to Bolin (2006), almost like a map of the outside world. Media products with great impact on people's imagination of places are TV and film (Reijnders, 2011a). There is, in other words, a mediatized sense of place.

Accordingly, the perception in this dissertation is that places are not fixed and stable but are rather influenced – by media products, for example. There will therefore not be any single meaning ascribed to a place, since tourists have been in contact with different sources, which create a multitude of interpretations and meanings of the same place (Knudsen, Soper, Metro-Roland, 2007). Furthermore, many tourist places have been imbued with meaning over time; therefore, the media gaze and the tourist gaze overlap (Larsen, 2006). So when tourists visit a destination, a sense of place has already been established by the

media, for example, but this perception evolves during a visit. It is therefore also important to address what happens during a visit. Jansson (2007), for example, discusses how media have an impact on the scripting of places – that is to say, how places ought to be performed. However, there is an abundance of media products circulating; moreover, they are decoded in various ways by the tourists. The question is then how tourists' mediatized sense of place influences their visit to a destination.

## Tourists' performance of place

In the tourism research tourists have been seen as highly passive media consumers who are stuck in the circle of representation (Jenkins, 1999), and therefore merely searching for and repeating images seen in marketing material. However, not all agree on this passive perception of the tourist; consequently, since around the turn of the century there has been a performance turn in tourism research (see for example Edensor, 1998, 2000, 2001; Franklin & Crang, 2001; Perkins & Thorns, 2001) and the body of research that takes a performance approach is growing. Performance is a metaphor for tourism practice rooted in social constructionism (Mordue, 2009). Performance research evolves from criticism of the paramount focus on the visual aspects of tourism, the so-called tourist gaze (addressed in chapter 2), and the passivity imbedded in this concept (Edensor, 1998; Perkins & Thorns, 2001). Veijola and Jokinen (1994) criticise this focus on the tourist's eyes because to be a tourist is a bodily experience that includes all of the senses – not just the eyes. It is vital to highlight tourism as a multi-sensory experience, and the performance turn captures these aspects (Ek et al., 2008). Even though the concept of the tourists gaze is highly connected with Urry (1990), the new edition of this book incorporates performance, or rather, how the tourist gaze and performance are related to each other (Urry & Larsen, 2011).

Performance is an important perspective because it emphasises that tourists are physical beings who act and perform when they move their bodies to new places (Sheller & Urry, 2004). Furthermore, tourists' bodies transform the places visited through the manner in which they engage with them (Crouch et al., 2001; Edensor, 2005). Crouch, Aronsson and Wahlström (2001) therefore argue that 'tourist sites, destinations, cultures and places are (at least in part) made significant through the way we encounter them, and the encounter happens in an embodied way' (2001, p. 259). Hence, tourists are active in creating the destinations visited through their embodiment and performances. Consequently, applying the performance approach to tourism transforms tourists from passive gazers to participants in the creation of the destinations visited by their performances (Baerenholdt et al., 2004; Crouch, 2004; Crouch et al., 2001; Edensor, 1998, 2000, 2001, 2009; Ek, et al., 2008). While the performance concept sets focus to single tourists (Light, 2009), they are not the only actors who create destinations through their performances. It is a relational process consisting of, for example, significant others with whom tourists might travel (Urry & Larsen, 2011), as well as other tourists, and the hosts who may be both locals and in charge of attractions or destinations (Baerenholdt et al., 2004; Edensor, 2001; Light, 2009; Mordue, 2001, 2005, 2009). But it is not only other people who have an impact, as Sheller and Urry (2004, p. 6) argue that 'places are about relationships': to this relationship they add 'materials, images, and the systems of difference that they perform'. Thus, destinations are created by a multitude of entities, both human and non-human (Baerenholt et al., 2004). According to Crouch (2004, p. 151), 'places are thus (re)produced through systems of tourist performances, made possible and contingently stabilised through networked relationships with other organisations, buildings, objects and machines'. Media can be part of this relationship, as is developed in the next section as well as in paper V.

Therefore, in one sense, all types of destinations can be created – however, since the performance is relational between the tourist and many other factors, such as media, these factors could have a restrictive effect on the performance. Edensor (2001) identified the following factors that may affect tourists' performances: tourist rituals, scenography, key workers at an attraction, and the media which is in focus in this dissertation. However, tourists can react differently to these factors: Edensor (2001) noted three categories of modes of performance. The first is directed performances - tourists follow the regulated and dominant performance of the place, which could rely on external sources, such as guidebooks. The second performance is identity-oriented - it is a performance that is linked to the individual tourists. The third category is labelled non-conformist tourist performance. In this case, tourists' performances could be in total contrast to the dominant performance and understanding of the attraction. The different approaches tourists can take in their performance of a destination, or at least the first and last categories of performance, are somewhat similar to Hall's (1996) decoding model described in the previous section with a dominant, negotiated or opposite reading of a media product. It is interesting to note that the performance turn in tourism, which acknowledges tourist agency, occurred around the year 2000, since that

is 20 years after the view of media consumers shifted from passive to active consumers. It just shows the relevance of an interdisciplinary approach.

To conclude, tourist places are produced and created by tourist performances in several simultaneous processes occurring during a visit. Such processes, however, have already started at home, because tourist performances are part of everyday life (cf. Baerenholdt et al., 2004), and I am particularily interested in tourists' media consumption in relation to their performance, as will discussed in the next section.

## Mediatized performances of destinations

Tourists decode a range of texts when creating an understanding of places (Jansson, 2002b; Kim 2012; Lagerkvist, 2004; Lindström, 2011) and this decoding will be part of their performance when visiting a destination. It is therefore relevant to take into account tourists' readings of texts as this could affect their performances of place: a mediatized sense of place is created (Jansson & Falkheimer, 2006). Hall (1996) points out that although consumers may have read the same text, it will offer a plurality of interpretations - as is also noted in Thelander's (2002) research. Therefore, put into a tourism context, various performances of place can therefore be expected by different tourists. Thus, places are not static and fixed, as tourists produce them through individual performances in different interactions with, for example, media (Larsen, 2010). Furthermore, tourists decode media products individually, which affects their performances of place. However, tourists do not only decode texts, as they are also part of creating new stories through their ongoing interactions and performances with, for example, other tourists, guides and objects (Urry & Larsen, 2011).

There are a few cases in which the performance perspective has been applied while exploring media such as popular culture and performances of place. Edensor (2001), for example, discussed performance in connection with the Wallace myth by studying visitors to the Wallace monument in Scotland. This memorial became a popular tourist destination after the film 'Braveheart'. In his study he concluded that tourists are to some extent guided by previous norms of how to perform. A visit to the Wallace monument 'may bring forth associations to other media but also depend upon the recall to other objects, places and times which is informed by tactile, auditory and olfactory memories,

by embodied experiences and practical, sensuous knowledge' (Edensor, 2005, p. 117). Consequently, during the visit to the monument, tourists' performances could be altered through interactions with other people, for example, and the highly physical place. He also concluded that an actual visit triggered a performance that questioned previously held knowledge and initiated a search for further knowledge. The media that provided the inspiration in the first place then became only a starting point for something new. Another researcher who has studied this area is Mordue (2001, 2009), who explored tourism related to the British TV programme 'Heartbeat' with respect to each of the actors involved: tourists, locals and managers/council. He does not explore actual performances but rather the tourists', locals' and management's talk about performance and the different meanings they have of the place. He shows how media have created contested views of preferred meanings of place. In 2009 Mordue adopts a more longitudinal perspective, discussing how perceptions of the rural, in this case a highly mediatized rural place, are performed by different actors in a highly globalised world. The discussion focuses on the village in itself versus the filmed version. An Asian research example was carried out by Ryan et al. (2009) who explored whether the novel and subsequent TV programme 'Dream of the Red Mansions' were part of tourists' performances at Grand View Gardens (the setting for the TV production). Their research confirmed that media had an impact on tourists' performances, also pointing out that other types of performances were occurring at the same time – such as performances that linked to aspects of the past and highly contemporary performances set in the present, such as socialising with friends. Light (2009) studied the performances of tourists taking part in a packaged tour to Transylvania. He concluded that the tourists' performances were clearly linked to the range of media products in circulation that cover Dracula-related themes. The novel 'Dracula' and the several filmatisations of the novel played a distinct role in the tourists' performances - for example, tourists listened for the sound of wolves and looked after bats while on a guided tour as these were features they expected to encounter. They also wanted to follow in the footsteps of Jonathan Harker (a character in the novel). In these cases then the media guided their performance to the extent that they wanted to perform it themselves by enacting the fictive story. Kim (2010), Roesch (2009) and Carl et al. (2007) also pointed out the notion of enactment when studying what they defined as film tourists. However, as is stressed throughout this section, there can be a multitude of performances at the same time in the same place. Light's (2009) case highlighted other performances not related to media products - such as party-going and anticipating future journeys.

In these cases, media products such as film, TV and literature were highly involved in the performance and meaning of place. Edensor (2001) has labelled places that are associated with some kind of popular cultural media product, such as a film, mediatized places. However, just because a media product such as film is dominant for a particular destination, it does not have to impact tourists' performances, as Siripis et al. (2013) concluded in their research on the film 'The Beach' and tourists to Thailand. This is an aspect not clearly addressed in discussions of film tourists, as they are often grouped together and seen as only following in the footsteps of the most popular media product of choice. However, tourists' performances are not completely predetermined (Ek et al., 2008), by texts, for example, as performances also include creativity, deviations and new experiences gained while visiting (Urry & Larsen 2011, p. 193). Moreover, a multitude of performances exist at the same time, so even if places are mediatized, places are not the same, as they are predetermined in meaning and performance amongst tourists as media rather provide new spatial experiences (Lagerkvist, 2006; Sandvik, 2010). So a tourist could have a mediatized sense of place before visiting a destination, but this sense would change during a visit because a sense of place is always connected to the physical experience of the place as well.

Finally, if we agree that destinations are created by tourists it will further affect our understanding of tourists performances because it somehow implies that a plurality of destinations are created simultaneously due to tourists' preconceptions (cf. Edensor, 1998, 2000). Barenholt et al. (2004, p. 39) phrased it like this: the 'coexistence of multiple corporeal performances produces tourist places'. It will also have an impact on what is considered to be an authentic place. Knudsen and Waade (2010) therefore propose the concept of performed authenticity - that is, media play an important role in performed authenticity and it is a performance that is subject to gaze, place and imagination, as well as movement and actual embodied actions. So performed authenticity is seen as something relational - an encounter between body and place. An authentic place is in this perspective based on tourists' performances at a destination (the authenticity perspective is explored in paper IV). Hence, destinations are multi-layered phenomena in which different performances can occur at the same time due to tourists' different interactions (Crouch et al., 2001; Knudsen, Soper, & Metro-Roland, 2007; Quinn, 2007). Consequently, how a destination is regarded is dependent on the individual tourists' performance: a performance the foundation of which has already been established at home (Edensor, 2000).

To conclude this chapter, tourists are part of creating destinations through their performances and media can be a part of this performance. The old notion of tourists and consumers as passive beings, that still prevails to some extent in both the literature and among practitioners, is thereby dismissed. It is not simply that people see or read something like 'The Da Vinci Code' and then the tourists visit and perform the destination solely on the basis of that single media product. Media products, such as a film, could instead cause new performances at a destination, or could actually create new touristic places. Hence, neither places nor tourists' performances are fixed in time, as they are changeable depending on, for example, media. Furthermore, performance highlights the tourists, and I am interested in any tourist who visits a destination, and not the devoted film or media tourist who is the focus of much of previous research in its exploration of the intertwining of media and tourism (e.g., 'The Lord of The Rings tourists: Roesch, 2009; or Dracula tourists: Reijnders, 2011b). Moreover, studies on tourist performances with a media focus have been conducted, but they are either from the perspective of a single product (Mordue, 2001, 2009; Ryan et al., 2009) or they are of a secondary nature, in that media are part of the performances on site but not the main focus (Light, 2009). Hence, further research is needed because there is a lack of research that explores the different processes that occur in the intertwining of tourism and media from a tourist perspective (see for example Connell, 2012). By focusing on the tourists in my research I would like to move beyond the simplistic view, which to some extent still exists, that would label the tourists as 'film tourists'. There is a notion, especially amongst practitioners, that all these tourists hold the same meaning of place and would therefore carry out the same performance just because they have consumed the same media product. The reality of these processes, however, is more complex, and I will explore and discuss this complexity in papers IV and V.

# 5 Methodology and empirical material

Earlier studies that focused on media and tourism, especially film tourism, have been criticised for being overly anecdotal, merely adding case after case without contributing new knowledge (Heitmann, 2010; Karpovich, 2010; Young & Young, 2008). Therefore, before I explain the methods used in this dissertation I will review the previous methods conducted in studies with a tourist perspective in order to position my methodological research in comparison to them.

The first studies did not involve thorough empirical research, as they were based only on data collected about a number of small anecdotal cases focusing only on tourists as visitor numbers (Riley et al., 1998; Tooke & Baker, 1996). Quantitative methods, especially questionnaires, have frequently been used in order to study different kinds of media tourists at a destination or tourist attraction (Connell & Meyer, 2009; Herbert, 1996; Squire, 1994). However, there has also been an interest in apprehending off site tourists, to explore whether media such as film change tourists' image of a destination and willingness to visit the destination. An approach and method used by Kim and Richardson (2003) resulted in a study that has been repeated by other researchers (e.g. Hahm & Wang, 2011; Hudson, Wang, & Gil Sergio, 2011; Soliman Dalia, 2011). Tzanelli (2003, 2004), on the other hand, approached off-site media tourists (or potential tourists) by collecting comments made by people on various Internet sites such as IMDB and Amazon. Other reasearchers used a combination of quantitative (questionnaires) and qualitative (interviews) methods to apprehend media tourists on-site (Carl et al., 2007; Iwashita, 2006; Liou, 2010; Ryan et al., 2009). Questionnaires and/or interviews are not the only methods used, however: Buchmann et al. (2010) used a range of techniques, such as observations of tourists participation in guided tours, interviews (group and individual), pre-/post-tour questionnaires, and journals in a case study of tourists taking part in a 'Lord of The Rings' tour. There are

also other studies that take a mixed-methods approach in exploring media tourists on site (Light, 2009; Reijnders, 2011b). However, I am also interested in media products used by the tourist. There are studies that focus on the media products in media tourism (e.g. Beeton, 2004; Frost, 2006, 2010; Reijnders, 2009; Sadler & Haskins, 2005) but they do not take a tourist perspective. I have therefore combined methods that approach tourists, both on and off site, and the media products consumed and used by the tourists as shown in the table below.

Publications	Main methods used and data collected
I. The Role of Media Products on Consumer Behaviour in Tourism.	Rosslyn Chapel and the Da Vinci Code is used as an illustrative case.
II. Mediatized tourism	A theoretical sampling method of the following social media – 1 Facebook group 1 Tweet at Twitter 1 Blog entry 1 YouTube film 1 Photo with added description at Flickr
III. Media convergence – Tourist attractions in the making	Quantitative and qualitative content analysis and narrative analysis of – 9 Guidebooks of Scotland 7 pieces of marketing material from VisitScotland 2 Rosslyn Chapel brochures 1 Bus timetable
IV. Negotiating Authenticity at Rosslyn Chapel	Observations – 2 ½ weeks in 2006 4 days in 2007 Interviews – 28 interviews (individual and groups) with a total of 55 visitors 1 interview with manager
V. Mediatized tourist performances of place	Observations – 2 ½ weeks in 2006 4 days in 2007 Interviews – 28 interviews (individual or groups) with a total of 55 visitors

Table 1: Methods used in the five publications

In this dissertation I have conducted a case study method. A case study offers concrete and context-dependent knowledge (Flyvbjerg, 2006). Furthermore, the advantage of conducting a case study is that it is done in real-life situations;

views are therefore tested directly in relation to the phenomena as they unfold in practice (Ibid, p. 19). A case study is also signified by the use of several methods while exploring (Heide & Simonsson, 2014) which is the case in this dissertation. I have therefore decided to focus on a single site in this dissertation because it is better to select one site in order to see the different connections between the tourists and the media products they consume and use. Fornäs (2002b), for example, selected a shopping mall to see these connections. However, I am interested in tourism and popular culture, so a place that fit this approach was chosen. Furthermore, Roesch (2009) argues that in order to study what he refers to as 'media tourists' it is better to choose a well-defined place or a specific context such as a tour. The place I selected was Rosslyn Chapel outside Edinburgh in Scotland, a small chapel that came into the limelight after the novel 'The Da Vinci Code', first published by Dan Brown in 2003 and followed by a filmatisation released in 2006. There are many places depicted in the novel - places such as The Louvre, Paris and London. However, I chose to study Rosslyn Chapel as it is a well-defined place. Since I have a tourist perspective it was also essential that the site had a good number of visitors. Rosslyn Chapel experienced a growth in visitor numbers after the publication of the novel: the numbers of visitors rose from 36,000 visitors per year (VisitScotland, 2003) to peak in 2006 at 175,000 visitors (VisitScotland, 2008). The numbers of visitors has slightly dropped since 2006 but there are still many more visitors than prior to the release of the novel and film: in 2013 the Chapel received 145,000 visitors (VisitScotland, 2014). Interest in this place has remained consistent over a lengthy period, giving me an opportunity to also explore changes in circulating media products such as marketing material and guidebooks. Another reason for selecting this place was the release of the film in 2006, the same year I started my PhD research which gave me an opportunity to follow the impact of a film on a site from the beginning.

The first method of this study was *observation*: the purpose of conducting observation is to be able to describe what people say and more important do (Fangen, 2005). Initially I was a participant observer, as I approached Rosslyn Chapel as would any other tourist. However, as I continued to return to the site my observer role changed, becoming increasingly non-participative. It became very obvious that I did not act like the other tourists since I did not move enough and was sometimes even asked to move by visitors who were taking photos. My observations began right during the 30-minute bus journey from Edinburgh city to Rosslyn Chapel and included the hours at Rosslyn Chapel and the journey back. I conducted observations in August 2006, only three months after the release of the Da Vinci Code film, for two and a half weeks. I

spend four to six hours daily at Rosslyn Chapel, including waiting at the bus stop and the bus ride. These transit sites also provided opportunities for observations, as I could follow the tourists from before to after visiting the tourist attraction. I returned in 2007 for another four days of observation. The focus of my observation was tourists' performances on site, as well as everything at the site, such as guided tours, signs, the shop, the organisation of the premises and so on, but my main focus was the visitors. For example, I observed people reading 'The Da Vinci Code' while visiting. However, a lot of the visitors engaged in similar activities, such as viewing all the carvings, taking photos of objects and of themselves, listening to the guide, or resting either on benches or on the ground alone or with others. To be able to understand the nuances of these apparently similar performances, I needed to add another method.

The observations were then augmented with ad hoc conversations with visitors. These unstructured conversations were combined with more formal *interviews* in 2006. I only gained access to the premises in the first year; in the second year, I was only there as an observer, as the management had decided they did not want their visitors to be disturbed during their visit by any researcher. I view the interviews as social interaction between the interviewer and the interviewee (Czarniawska, 2004; Welch & Piekkari, 2006). Since the interview is a social interaction, those taking part are equally important and influence the process to equal degrees. Cassinger discuss (2014) intercultural interviewing and the different roles that are needed by both the interviewer and the interviewee when to conduct interviews in another culture and language. There is a need of flexibility as well as awareness of the situation. In this case my role as a PhD candidate and a foreigner in the country of study made me in a way almost like the tourists I interviewed. Not being a native speaker of English had an impact on the interview situation. The language issue was key, as only those who were comfortable speaking English in an interview situation participated, unless I could use my mother tongue, Swedish. I conducted a total of 28 interviews (four in Swedish and the rest in English) ranging from 15 to 45 minutes. The interviews involved a combination of locals (coming for a day visit) and tourists visiting Rosslyn Chapel as part of a Scottish holiday. Since most visitors had travelling companions the interviews were conducted with individuals, in pairs and in groups of three, in different constellations of friends and family. The interviews focused on the interviewees talking about their activities as tourists at Rosslyn Chapel and in Scotland generally, if this visit was part of a larger holiday in addition media products they had used and consumed before visiting. I began the interviews by asking the person why he or she had decided to visit Rosslyn Chapel that day. Depending on the answer I received I then followed up with a question that varied slightly depending on whether they were day visitors to Rosslyn Chapel or whether the visit was part of a larger itinerary. The Da Vinci Code was mentioned frequently either as a reason for visiting or as an aspect of who they were. Moreover, 'The Da Vinci Code' triggered many religious discussions in the interview situations in relation to the place being visited. Consequently, in the interviews I could capture tourists' own descriptions of their activities and of the media products they consumed and used, which I then related to their performance and sense of place. In addition to the interviews with the visitors, in 2007 I also interviewed the manager of Rosslyn Chapel.

When I came back to the office I attempted to analyse the collected empirical material, but when I started to code the material I soon discovered that I could not fully analyse the material because there were theories I could use in the analysis and did not have. My initial research focus was the film tourist, but I soon realised that what I had encountered at Rosslyn Chapel could not just be explained in terms of the tourists being inspired by 'The Da Vinci Code', either the novel or the film - for example, on the bus going out to Rosslyn Chapel I talked to an old woman in her 70s. She had been brought up close to Rosslyn Chapel and was now living in Edinburgh, but she had never visited the chapel. She had recently read so much about it in the newspapers that she 'wanted to see what all the fuss was about'. In her case it was the newspaper articles about 'The Da Vinci Code' that triggered a visit. That led me to explore the phenomenon in a larger theoretical context. Before I did this, I was unable to fully analyse the empirical material I had collected through observations and interviews. So these methods and materials were collected first but used last, in papers IV and V.

Mediatization and convergence were then the theoretical concepts that were applied to my research in order to analyse my empirical material. They were first used in paper II to analyse tourists' activities after a visit because there is still a lack of knowledge of tourists' interactions with media products after a visit and also as to how these interactions are re-produced and recreated for other potential tourists to take part in – key features of the convergence perspective. In order to capture these post-visit practices I addressed different *online social media networks* in order to explore tourists' interactions with media products and other consumers after a visit had taken place (a method used in paper II). A theoretical sampling method was used in order to collect empirical material (Silverman, 2005). Five of the largest social media networks that had a purpose other than being for tourists were selected and within each of them one theoretically representative case was chosen. Facebook, Twitter, blogs, YouTube and Flickr were the selected social forums. To capture convergence, cases that contained high degrees of cross-referencing to other media products and/or high viewing/comment numbers were selected.

Tourists' performances in relation to media products were approached in the interviews; therefore, it became relevant to also address the media products in themselves. First, a range of media products were collected: guidebooks covering Scotland from four different publishers that had all updated their editions in the same year (2008), as well as earlier editions of the same guidebooks. In addition to the guidebooks VisitScotland's marketing materials from 2006 were collected. This was also the same year the interviews were conducted and the film released (see paper III for an overview of materials). The collected empirical materials were then analysed in two steps: first using a *content analysis* and then a narrative analysis (both methods are used in paper III). Content analysis focuses on the quantitative descriptions of the content manifested in a text and not on the intention behind that text (Berelson, 1971:18). Its purpose is to identify and describe patterns in the material. It is used and recommended by other researchers as a way to obtain an overall understanding of media products (Edelheim, 2007; Jenkins, 1999). The content analysis was then followed by a narrative analysis, in which each text was analysed on its own as well as in relation to the others. This was done by adopting Czarniawska's (2004, pp. 73-74) concepts of narrative analysis, the first of which is explication (What does the text say?). Explication is in line with content analysis, as it focuses directly on the content of the text. The next steps are explanation (Why and how does this text say what it says?), and finally, exploration (What does the text do to its readers?). The first two steps have a media focus and are approached in paper III; the final step, however, is explored in paper V, as it is linked to tourists' performances on site.

This brings me back to the empirical material that I initially collected through observation and interviews. It was not until I had created a new theoretical platform that I could fully analyse this material. Furthermore, the other two steps analysing tourists' post-visit activities and the displaying of the media products they used also yielded essential insights I needed before returning to the first materials used in papers IV and V.

# 6 Paper summaries

This chapter provides a short summary of each of the five papers that are part of this dissertation. The aim is to show how they are related to each other but it is equally important to show how they differ from each other. As explained in the methods chapter, while a single case is used throughout, each paper represents a different theoretical approach to the case. While some of the theories are drawn on in all of the papers, different aspects of them are explored and highlighted differently in the different texts and analyses. The empirical material used in the different papers also varies, and ranges from social media forums on the Internet, to guidebooks, observations and interviews with tourists (see chapter 5 regarding methods). What is important to note is that these papers were written over a number of years, so new theories have been developed during the timeframe in which they were written.

#### Paper I: Månsson, M. (2009). The Role of Media Products on Consumer Behaviour in Tourism. In M. Kozak & A. Decrop (Eds.), *Handbook of Tourist Behaviour. Theory and Practice* (pp. 226-237). London, New York: Routledge.

This first paper is an introductory text that primarily introduces the concept of mediatized tourism. Its aim is to develop a foundation that is then further explored in the four subsequent papers. The text introduces an initial discussion of the intertwining of popular cultural media products and tourism, particularly from a tourist point of view. This paper is therefore informed by the following research question.

#### How do intertwined media products impact tourist behaviour?

Previous studies of popular media products and tourism have focused largely on one product at a time – film tourism, for example. However, this text discusses briefly a range of popular cultural media products, such as paintings, literature, film and TV, guidebooks, and photographs. These separate media products are then combined in a discussion that considers them as part of the same phenomenon, namely mediatized tourism. To illustrate this discussion, 'The Da Vinci Code' is used throughout as an example. This book chapter concludes that in the concept of mediatized tourism, tourists are seen as co-creators of the places visited rather than passive media consumers. Moreover, this text also discusses tourists as contributors of marketing material. Hence, this paper introduces aspects and themes that are later developed and empirically analysed in the following papers.

## Paper II: Månsson, M. (2011) Mediatized tourism. Annals of Tourism Research, 38(4), 1634-1652.

The second paper advances the discussion of the concept of mediatized tourism introduced in paper I. Its aim is to grasp an overall approach to mediatized tourism by introducing and applying convergence, a new media perspective, to tourism studies in order to contextualise and enhance our understanding of tourist agency in tourism. The theoretical focus of convergence, and its elements of media convergence, consumer agency and collaborations as well as interactions between producers and consumers and consumer-to-consumer interactions, is developed in this text. In this article consumers are equated with tourists, as tourists are the article's focus. The aim of the article is to move beyond the circle of representation and the notion of passive tourists, and the following research question is explored:

# How can convergence be applied to empirically explore and contextualise changes in tourism consumption?

This is accomplished by focusing on tourist-created media products. More explicitly, this article studies tourists who visited Rosslyn Chapel, known for its role in 'The Da Vinci Code' (Brown, 2004), and their subsequent media activities. In order to explore tourists' post-travel media practices, online social media networks were chosen (Facebook, Twitter, blogs, YouTube and Flickr) for review because they are both user-generated and user-oriented, and they clearly show the aspects of convergence. The practical implications of this research for practitioners stem from its insights into tourists' participation in the marketing of destinations and its potential impact on other tourists' interest in visiting. The theoretical contribution of this article is the contextualising of tourist agency in tourism production and in destination marketing through the growing phenomenon of mediatized tourism. Tourists are now part of the marketing of destinations through channels such as social media forums in which tourists post descriptions of their experiences that other potential tourists can read. This article therefore dismisses the idea of tourists as passive media consumers by showing how tourists are active in creating media content of their

own. This is done by applying the convergence concept, as it can analytically capture tourists' involvement in the consumption and production of tourist destinations.

## Paper III: Månsson, M. (2011). Media convergence – Tourist attractions in the making. *Tourism Review International*, 15(3), 227-241.

The third paper focuses on one aspect of convergence - namely, media convergence -while analysing the texts in circulation that are consumed by tourists as destination marketing. Media convergence is then combined with other relevant theories in order to explore the role of popular cultural media products for destinations. The 'circuit of culture model' is applied in order to comprehend the circulation of media products and transformations of meanings in marketing. This model highlights the interrelationships of producers of texts, the texts themselves, the readers (in this case the tourists) and their decoding of the texts, and the surrounding society. In the circuits of culture there are a multitude of representations in circulation, such as guidebooks and tourist brochures, and these media products and representations continuously converge with each other. Previous studies on representations in producer-generated materials have had a single-media focus and not focused on the convergence of the various products, even though it is known that tourists blend all circulating representations in creating a mental image of a destination. This article therefore aims to explore representations in a range of media products associated with a particular tourist attraction - namely, Rosslyn Chapel.

# How is an attraction represented in different media products and how do their meanings converge?

The empirical material was analysed using first a content analysis and then a narrative analysis. The combined analyses show how popular cultural media media convergence, have products, through repositioned existing representations and created new representations of tourist places, and vice versa. Popular culture now packages tourist places in new ways for tourists to encounter. Thus, popular culture is no longer a niche tourism activity as it is now part of mainstream destination marketing. Media products feed and link to each other such that tourists can now learn about 'The Da Vinci Code' in relation to Rosslyn Chapel from a guidebook instead of from the actual novel or film. In this sense it is not just the tourist places that are transformed as it is equally the media products themselves that change. Thus, media convergence has a great impact on destination marketing, tourist places and tourists alike,

because it legitimises what is worth visiting – a vital insight for destination marketers.

#### Paper IV: Månsson, M. (2010). Negotiating Authenticity at Rosslyn Chapel. In B. Timm Knudsen & A. M. Waade (Eds.), *Re-Investing Authenticity* (pp. 168-180). Bristol: Channel View.

The fourth paper focuses on the tourists who consume and use the popular cultural media products that were the focus of the preceding article. Tourists have a mediatized gaze that is influenced by a range of media products (as explored in the preceding paper) and they primarily look for representations they have seen before. The stress on the visual aspects of being a tourist has been criticised, some researchers therefore arguing that tourists perform rather than gaze. Consequently, this text takes a performance approach to study tourists visiting a tourist destination and the implication this has for the authenticity of the place. The aim is to explore the intertwining of media products and tourists while focusing on authenticity in connection with tourists' embodied performances of place, as informed by this research question:

# How are tourists' perceptions of tourist attractions affected by a physical visit as well as by popular cultural media products?

The paper also considers competing views and possible conflicts in relation to the definition of the authentic place. Furthermore, it aims to portray the negotiation process between consumed media images and tourists' embodied experiences. The methods used in this paper were observation and interviews with visitors and with the manager. While it is known that tourists are influenced by popular culture, this chapter explores how such processes are performed in an actual visit. The study showed that popular cultural media, and imaginary and physical places are interwoven in an ongoing negotiation process. Tourists mix the physical place with an imaginary place and blur the distinctions between them as they create their own understanding of this tourist place. Thus, what tourists perceive as the authentic place may be highly influenced by a fictive product, but this perception is then challenged in a physical visit. This is a continuous process as new media products as well as new physical visits are added to people's previous conceptions of tourist places. Moreover, when media, place and tourism mix in this manner, visitors' perceptions of authenticity are affected. It is important for practitioners to understand the multiple aspects of authenticity in order to let tourists experience the place in different ways. This paper introduces tourist agency and the performance,

aspect taking an authenticity-oriented approach that is further explored in paper V.

#### Paper V: Månsson, M. (2014) Mediatized tourist performances of place. Manuscript submitted to the journal Tourist studies

The final paper in this dissertation has a bridging purpose. This article therefore addresses the agency aspect of convergence, introduced in paper II, the embodiment and performance theories that were introduced in paper IV to the circuits of culture discussed in paper III. However, this time there is a shift in the focus of the model from circulating media products to tourists' decoding of these texts in relation to their performance of a destination. This article views places as something performed by tourists, popular cultural media products being integrated in their performance. The aim of this article is then to explore how media products are part of tourist performances and of tourists' sense of place.

# How are tourists' performances of place related to their reading and understanding of media products?

The intention is to gain further insights in to tourists' performances in relation to media beyond the so-called mediatized tourist gaze, to focus instead on tourists' performances of place. The methods used were observation and interviews to capture tourists' performances and their narratives about their performances. This article has contributed to empirically showing how tourists' decoding of media products is part of their performances and sense of place. In this case it was evident that although there was a dominant media product, namely 'The Da Vinci Code', tourists demonstrated a range of performances. Some of these performances were clearly guided by the particular media product, whereas others could be viewed as a shared performance. For practitioners, it is important to understand that tourists have a different sense of places. It is therefore not necessary to transform a tourist place purely in the light of a dominant media product because there are so many other simultaneous interpretations. This article has contributed to contextualising the multitude of tourists' performances of place in relation to a dominant popular cultural media product. Consequently, places are seen as multi-layered phenomena – as palimpsests of mediatized performances of place.

## 7 Conclusions

This final chapter discusses the overall findings of the five single papers considered as a whole. The initial premise of this dissertation was that there is an ongoing intertwining of popular cultural media products and tourism that affects tourists. Hence, while the media's relevance for tourism was known from the beginning, but the question was how these processes of intertwining were actually enacted. Of particular interest was the interrelationship between media products and tourists' performances and sense of place. It is important to address these issues as the media industry is predicted to have constant growth which will in turn continue to impact the tourism sector. Popular cultural media products therefore play a vital role in tourism, but it is a dual interaction: tourism has an impact on popular culture, too. For instance, in 'The Da Vinci Code' Rosslyn Chapel is described in almost the manner of a guidebook. So the ongoing intertwining of tourism and media consumption is already having a profound impact and it is expected to continue to grow (Davin, 2005; Jensen & Waade, 2009). In addition, Hjarvard (2008) and others argue that there is an overall mediatization of our society which makes it even more relevant to address its consequences for tourism, as being a part of the society. As explained earlier, the concept of mediatization highlights the intertwining of media with other processes in society and its changing role, which makes it relevant for addressing tourism and media. Mediatization research is growing in media and communication studies; at the same time, however, there is a debate under way as to whether it is just a buzzword with no real theoretical contribution (Couldry & Hepp, 2013; Deacon & Stanyer, 2014). What can be concluded is that there is more and more research about the mediatization of society but there is lack of empirical contributions. In this dissertation I have introduced and applied mediatization for tourism research, with emphasis on popular culture media products, to analyse the empirical material. Therefore, my dissertation adds an empirical contribution to the ongoing mediatization discussions. In the papers, I have used the same case in order to highlight the same phenomenon but from a slightly different perspective when it comes to both collected material and applied theories. By exploring a single case, but with a change of perspective, I

have been able to shed some light on the complex processes that are implied in the intertwining of tourism and media that is mentioned frequently, though how it actually occurs is less frequently explored. In this case mediatization has provided additional insights and has been of value as it has provided an approach that links popular culture related tourism in a wider context with the overall society. Hence, this is not a niche-tourism phenomenon, as this type of media is more interrelated to overall cultural processes in society, and therefore. tourism is also part of it.

By applying convergence in this dissertation I have been able to contextualise the intertwining of media products in which the different media products blur together. They blur in the production stage and they blur for the tourists. In order to understand the impact of a film on a tourist place it is not enough to just explore the single media product, because these products are intertwined with other products in complex interrelationships. Guidebook publishers, for example, introduce popular cultural related tourist places in their guidebooks, as in the case of 'The Da Vinci Code'. Then, all of a sudden this particular media product (novel and film) has reached new media platforms. The guidebook publishers and tourist organisations can benefit from growing awareness of their products or destinations by adding popular cultural elements to their media products. They ride on the recognition these products have already received elsewhere. Consequently, there are a range of media products that cross and interact with each other via intertextuality on a range of media platforms and it may involve a mix of products produced with tourism and nontourism intentions, such a popular culture. Film and other popular cultural media products are therefore no longer just entertainment for their own sake, as media products are part of a transformation of tourist places. This in itself is nothing new, but the speed of these processes is now accelerating, due to the Internet, for example, where information can easily be spread.

Furthermore, tourists choose between circulating media products and make their own combinations of products by decoding them according to their own understandings. Decoding is therefore relevant to understanding the phenomenon in play. It considers tourists as not passive media users who are fixed in the circle of representation and mindlessly accept the circulating media messages. Being a tourist is a highly active process that starts and continues at home as an everyday practice. Furthermore, tourists are as likely to be the users of media products as the producers of media content for other tourists to take part in - for example, through social forums on the Internet. Consequently, this dissertation has emphasised tourist agency in media production, an important

aspect to highlight given that tourists' media consumption and production have an impact on tourist places. In media and communication research tourist agency as media users is well known, but in tourism research this knowledge has been largely missing. One reason for this is the lack of interdisciplinary perspectives, but it is important to go beyond disciplinary boundaries to incorporate relevant approaches from different fields – for example, by not only addressing tourism research, as that would be limiting when new approaches exist that could advance the knowledge scope. This dissertation therefore contributes an interdisciplinary perspective that is much needed in order to advance current media tourism research.

The blurring of media products and tourists agency has an impact on places, too. Places are not fixed in time, since all of a sudden some places become popular due to a film or a novel, or through media produced by tourists - while at the same time there are other tourist places falling into the media shadows, or the meaning of a place changes as a result of new media connections. In my dissertation I advance the understanding of the role of popular culture in this fluctuation, both mental and physical, of tourist places. Tourists are influenced by media products in respect of the sense of place, and this understanding then guides the tourists' performances of place. There are a number of performances available and in this dissertation I have not been interested in finding or presenting categories of mediatized tourists. This is in line with current discussions in tourism research that protest the increasing specialisation occurring in tourism research: the research has moved from being generic to becoming highly specialised (Cheng et al, 2011) with ever finer subdivisions and more elaborate typologies (Franklin and Crang, 2001). My dissertation is therefore an argument to focus not only on specialised and niche tourism activities in order to the see the overall characteristics involved. I have attempted to empirically show the range of performances that take place in order to create a more complex understanding of the media-inspired tourist instead of creating new categories of performances. A reason for this is that there is such a wide range of media products in circulation that tourists can consume their own selections of multiple media products concurrently and make their own links between various products, regardless of producer identity, which is then independently decoded. This is a finding that is missing in previous research for example, Roesch (2009), who researched 'The Lord of The Rings' tourists by only studying them as film tourists, although it is a film based on books. He addresses the issue in a few sentences, acknowledging that they could have used other media products, but that then would be a non-issue discussion. How can we understand tourists' performances of tourists' places if not all of their

influences are accounted for? This is a question I have explored in this dissertation, but further research targeting this issue is needed.

From a practical point of view this dissertation brings insights to practitioners working with popular culture, media and tourism. It is now a global trend among destination marketing organisations to use film to market their destinations (cf. Månsson & Eskilsson, 2013). However, it is important for these organisations to know that it might not be the single-media products that generate tourism, but rather the complex processes of the intertwining of media products. For tourism practitioners it is therefore risky to only rely on, for example, a film as a singular product to raise awareness of a destination, as the process could occur on many different media platforms simultaneously. Moreover, also vital knowledge is the fact of tourist agency in creating a sense of place that impacts their performance. In this dissertation I have empirically demonstrated these processes, and this is relevant in a managerial perspective because no two tourists are the same, although they may have read or seen the same media product. The tourist place, therefore, needs to remain open to a wide range of performances and different interpretations.

The main theoretical contribution of this dissertation is applying mediatization and convergence to the empirical contextualising of tourist agency in tourism production and destination marketing through the growing phenomenon of mediatized tourism. As shown, mediatized tourism is not a new typology of tourists or tourism; rather, it should be understood as a converging concept by which to understand how media and tourism are related to each other. Furthermore, tourists' performances and sense of place have been explored in relation to their agency in the form of decoding. Consequently, I have applied an interdisciplinary perspective in order to advance knowledge. However, there is still a need for further research, as this is just one study and more research is therefore needed to add to the expanding body of knowledge. One question that could be addressed is if everything is mediatized in tourism? Moreover, how can we further understand the different processes involved? This dissertation has also managerial implications, and the question is how destinations could develop and market themselves to these tourists? Another aspect that merits further research is the time aspect. It is now more than 10 years since the release of 'The Da Vinci Code' but Rosslyn Chapel is still receiving many visitors and they have even built a visitors centre. So the question is then what happens at a mediatized tourist place over time? Moreover, media and tourism are clearly linked and the question is how can these two spheres remain linked in an increasingly media-saturated world? There are then many questions that can be

further explored in new research. To conclude, this dissertation adds to the expanding field of research that is interested in the intertwining of popular culture and tourism. This was done by exploring a single case and the different ongoing processes that this tourist place is part of, everything from converging media products to tourists' performances and sense of place in relation to popular cultural media products.

## 8 References

- Ampuja, M., Koivisto, J., & Väliverronen, E. (2014). Strong and Weak Forms of Mediatization Theory. A Critical Review. *Nordicom Review*, 35, 111-123.
- Arnmagnusson (n.d). Retrived February 11, 2009, from www.arnmagnusson.se/page/id\_\_\_454.php.
- Ashworth, G., & Voogd, H. (1994). Marketing and place promotion. In J. R. Gold & S. Ward (Eds.), *PLace Promotion. The use of publicity to sell towns and regions* (pp. 39-52). Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.
- Ateljevic, I. (2000). Circuits of tourism: stepping beyond the 'production/consumption' dichotomy. *Tourism Geographies*, 2(4), 369-388.
- Baerenholdt, J. O., Haldrup, M., Larsen, J., & Urry, J. (2004). *Performing tourist places*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Banyai, M. (2010). Dracula's image in tourism: Western bloggers versus tour guides. European Journal of Tourism Research, 3(1), 5-22.
- Barcelona de pelicula (2011) Retrieved May 18, 2011 from www.barcelonadepelicula.com/html/ang/index.html
- Barcelona Turisme (2011) Retrieved May 18, 2010 from www.barcelonaturisme.com/Literary-Tour-of-Barcelona/\_vf-SMIY1yIuKQTV1aq49kJP7TmKf3uSuA1d0IDBXCdpuZDyuO64QRhHx6rct H8zx.
- Bechmann Petersen, A. (2006). Internet and Cross Media Productions: Case Studies in Two Major Danish Media Organizations. *Australian Journal of Emerging Technologies and Society*, 4(2), 94-107.
- Beeton, S. (2004). Rural Tourism in Australia Has the gaze Altered? Tracking Rural Images through Film and Tourism Promotion International Journal of Tourism Research, 6(3), 125-135.
- Beeton, S. (2005). *Film-Induced Tourism*. Clevedon, Buffalo, Toronto: Channel View Publications.

- Beeton, S. (2007). The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly: CSR, Film, and Tourism. Two Cases of Filming in a Small Community. *Tourism Review International*, 11(2), 145-154.
- Beeton, S. (2008). Location, Location, Location: Film Corporations' Social Responsibilities. *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 24(2-3), 107-114.
- Beeton, S. (2010). The Advance of Film Tourism. *Tourism and Hospitality Planning* & Development, 7(1), 1-6.
- Bencivenga, A., Chiarullo, L., Colangelo, D., & Percoco, A., (2012). Destination Image Built by the Cinema: The Case of 'Basilicata Coast to Coast'. *FEEM Working Paper*, 95.
- Berelson, B. (1971). *Content Analysis in Communication Research*. New York: Hafner Publishing Company.
- Bolan, P., Boy, S., & Bell, J. (2011). "We've seen it in the movies, let's see if it's true": Authenticity and displacement in film-induced tourism. *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, 3(2), 102-116.
- Bolin, G. (2006). Electronic Geographies. Media landscapes as thechnological and symbolic environments. In J. Falkheimer & A. Jansson (Eds.), *Geographies of Communication. The Spatial Turn in Media Studies* (pp. 67-86). Göteborg: Nordicom.
- Braun, E. (2008). *City Marketing. Towards an integrated approach.* (PhD Thesis), Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam.
- Brooker, W. (2001). Living on *Dawson's Creek. International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 4(4), 456-472.
- Brown, D. (2004). The Da Vinci Code. London: Corgi Books.
- Bruhn Jensen, K. (2010). Media Convergence. The three degrees of netowork, mass, and interpersonal communication. London: Routledge
- Buchmann, A. (2010). Planning and Development in Film Tourism: Insights into the Experience of Lord of the Rings Film Guides. *Tourism and Hospitality Planning & Development*, 7(1), 77-84.
- Buchmann, A., Moore, K., & Fisher, D. (2010). Experiencing film tourism. *Annals of Tourism Research*, *37*(1), 229-248.
- Buhalis, D. (2000). Marketing the competitive destination of the future Growth strategies for accommodation establishments in alpine regions. *Tourism Management*, 21(1), 97-116.
- Burgess, J. (1990). The Production and Consumption of Environmental Meanings in the Mass Media: A Research Agenda for the 1990s. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, *15*(2), 139-161.

- Busby, G., & Klug, J. (2001). Movie-indiced tourism: The challenge of measurement and other issues. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 7(4), 316-332.
- Butler, R. W. (1990). The influence of media in shaping international tourist patterns. *Tourism Recreation Research*, 15(2), 46-53.
- Campelo, A., Aitken, R., Thyne, M., & Gnoth, J. (2014) Sense of Place: The Importance for Destination Branding. *Journal of Travel Research*, 53(2), 154-166.
- Carl, D., Kindon, S., & Smith, K. (2007). Tourists' Experiences of Film Locations: New Zealand as '*Middle Earth'. Tourism Geographies*, 9(1), 49-63.
- Cassinger, C. 2014). Tvärkulturella intervjuer översättningens problematik. In J. Eksell & Å. Thelander (Eds.), *Kvalitativa metoder i strategisk kommunikation* (pp. 77-91). Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Cheng, C.-K., Li, X., Petrick, J. F., & O'Leary, J. (2011). An examination of tourism journal development. *Tourism Management*, 32(1), 53-61.
- Cherry, D. (2003). Algeria In and Out of the Frame: Visuality and Cultural Tourism in the Nineteeth Century. In D. Crouch & N. Lübbren (Eds.), *Visual culture and tourism* (pp. 41-58). Oxford, New York: Berg.
- Collins-Kreiner, N. & Tueta Sagi, K. (2011) Tourism to India as popular culture: A cultural, educational and religious experience at Dharamsala. *South Asian Popular Culture*, 9(2), 131–145.
- Connell, J. (2005a). Toddlers, tourism and Tobermory: Destination marketing issues and television-induced tourism. *Tourism Management*, 26(5), 763-776.
- Connell, J. (2005b). 'What's the story in *Balamory*?': The Impacts of a children's TV Programme on Small Tourism Enterprises on the Isle of Mull, Scotland. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 13*(3), 228-255.
- Connell, J. (2012). Film tourism Evolution, progress and prospects. *Tourism Management*, 33, 1007-1029.
- Connell, J., & Meyer, D. (2009). Balamory revisited: An evaluation of the screen tourism destination-tourist nexus. *Tourism Management*, *30*(2), 194-207.
- Couldry, N. (1998). The view from inside the 'simulacrum': visitors' tales from the set of Coronation Street. *Leisure Studies*, *17*(2), 94-107.
- Couldry, N. (2008). Mediatization or mediation? Alternative understandings of the emergent space of digital storytelling. *New Media and Society*, *10*(3), 373-391.
- Couldry, N. (2011). More sociology, more culture, more politics. *Cultural Studies*, 25(4-5), 487-501.
- Couldry, N. & Hepp, A. (2013). Conceptualizing Mediatization: Contexts, Traditions, Arguments. *Communication Theory*, 23, 191–202.

- Couldry, N., & McCarthy, A. (2004). Introduction. Orientations: mapping MediaSpace In N. Couldry & A. McCarthy (Eds.), *MediaSpace. Place, Scale and Culture in a Media Age* (pp. 1-18). London: Routledge.
- Crouch, D. (1999). Introduction: encounters in leisure/tourism. In D. Crouch (Ed.), *Leisure/tourism geographies. Practices and geographical knowledge* (pp. 1-16). London: Routledge.
- Crouch, D. (2004). Tourist practices and performances. In A. A. Lew, C. M. Hall & A. M. Williams (Eds.), *A companion to tourism* (pp. 85-95). Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Crouch, D., Aronsson, L., & Wahlström, L. (2001). Tourist encounters. *Tourist studies*, 1(3), 253-270.
- Crouch, D., Jackson, R., & Thompson, F. (Eds.). (2005a). *The Media and the Tourist Imagination. Converging cultures.* London, New York: Routledge.
- Crouch, D., Jackson, R., & Thompson, F. (2005b). Introduction. In D. Crouch, R. Jackson & F. Thompson (Eds.), *The Media and the Tourist Imagination. Converging cultures* (pp. 1-13). London, New York: Routledge.
- Crouch, D., & Lübbren, N. (Eds.). (2003). Visual culture and tourism. Oxford, New York: Berg.
- Cynthia, D., & Beeton, Sue. (2009). Supporting independent film production through tourism collaboration. *Tourism Review International*, 13, 113-119.
- Czarniawska, B. (2004). Narratives in Social Science Research. London: Sage.
- Davin, S. (2005). Tourists and television viewers: some similarities. In D. Crouch, R. Jackson and F. Thompson (Eds) *The Media and the Tourist Imagination*. *Converging cultures*, (pp. 170-182). London: Routledge.
- Deacon, D., & Stanyer, J. (2014). Mediatization: key concept or conceptual bandwagon? *Media, Culture & Society, 36*(7) 1032–1044.
- Deery, J. (2003). TV.com: Participatory Viewing on the Web. *The Journal of Popular Culture*, *37*(2), 161-183.
- Deuze, M. (2007). Convergence culture in the creative industries. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 10(2), 243-263.
- Di Cesare, F., Salandra, A., & Craparotta, E. (2012). Films and audiovisual potentiality in tourism destination promotion: A European perspective. *Tourism Review International*, *16*(2), 101-111.
- Dumbrăveanua, D. (2010). Place branding: a challenging process for bucharest the capital city of romania. *Human Geographies -- Journal of Studies & Research in Human Geography, 4*(2), 53-62.

- Edelheim, J. R. (2007). Hidden messages: A polysemic reading of tourist brochures. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 13(1), 5-17.
- Edensor, T. (1998). *Tourists at the Taj. Performance and Meaning at a Symbolic Site*. London: Routledge.
- Edensor, T. (2000). Staging tourism tourists as performers. *Annals of Tourism Research, 27*(2), 322-344.
- Edensor, T. (2001). Performing tourism, staging tourism. (Re)producing tourist space and practice. *Tourist studies*, 1(1), 59-81.
- Edensor, T. (2005). Mediating William Wallace. Audio-visual technologies in tourism. In D. Crouch, R. Jackson & F. Thompson (Eds.), *The Media and the Tourist Imagination. Converging cultures* (pp. 105-118). London, New York: Routledge.
- Edensor, T. (2009). Tourism and Performance. In T. Jamal & M. Robinson (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of tourism studies* (pp. 543-557). London: SAGE.
- Ek, R. (2006). Media studies, geographical imaginations and retational space. In J. Falkheimer & A. Jansson (Eds.), *Geographies of Communication. The Spatial Turn in Media Studies* (pp.45-66). Göteborg: Nordicom.
- Ek, R., & Hultman, J. (2007). Produktgörandet av platser En introduktion. In R. Ek & J. Hultman (Eds.), *Plats som produkt* (pp. 13-35). Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Ek, R., Larsen, J., Hornskov, S. B., & Mansfeldt, O. K. (2008). A Dynamic Framework of Tourist Experiences: Space-Time and Performances in the Experience Economy. *Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism*, 8(2), 122-140.
- EuroScreen case studies (2013) Retrieved from www.euroscreen.org.uk.
- Evans, E. J. (2008). Character, audience agency and transmedia drama *Media, Culture* & Society, 30(2), 197-213.
- Falkheimer, J., & Thelander, Å. (2007). Att sätta en plats på kartan. Mediernas betydelse för platsmarknadsföring. In R. Ek & J. Hultman (Eds.), *Plats som* produkt (pp. 129-145). Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Fangen, K. (2005). Deltagande observation. Malmö: Liber.
- Fiske, J. (1989) Understanding popular culture. Boston: Unwin Hyman.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). Five Misunderstandings About Case-Study Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *12*(2), 219-245.
- Fornäs, J. (2002a). Mediesamspel i tid och rum. . In K. Becker, E. Bjurström, J. Fornäs & H. Ganetz (Eds.), *Medier och människor i konsumtionsrummet* (pp. 283-345). Nora: Nya Doxa.

- Fornäs, J. (2002b). Passages Across Thresholds: Into the Borderlands of Mediation. Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies, 8, 89-106.
- Fornäs, J. (2006). Media passages in urban spaces of consumption. In J. Falkheimer & A. Jansson (Eds.), *Geographies of Communication. The Spatial Turn in Media Studies* (pp.205-220). Göteborg: Nordicom.
- Fornäs, J. (2012). Kultur. Malmö: Liber.
- Franklin, A., & Crang, M. (2001). The trouble with tourism and travel theory? *Tourist Studies*, 1 (1), 5-22.
- Frost, W. (2006). Braveheart-ed Ned Kelly: historic films, heritage tourism and destination image. *Tourism Management*, 27(2), 247-254.
- Frost, W. (2010). Life changing experiences: Film and Tourists in the Australian Outback. *Annals of Tourism Research*, *37*(3), 707-726.
- Gartner, W. C. (1993). Image Formation Process. Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing, 2(2), 191 216.
- Gibson, S. (2006). A seat with a view. Tourism, (im)mobility and the cinematic-travel glance *Tourist studies*, *6*(2), 157-178.
- Giovanardi, M. (2011). Producing and consuming the painter Raphael's birthplace. Journal of Place Management and Development, 4(1), 53-66.
- Governs, R. (2011). From place marketing to place branding and back. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy*, *7*, 227-231.
- Gunn, C. A. (1997). *Vacationscape: developing tourist areas* (3 ed.). Washington: Taylor & Francis.
- Gyimothy, S. (2015). Bollywood-in-the-Alps: Popular culture place-making in tourism . In A. Lorentzen, K. Topsøe Larsen, & L. Schrøder (Eds.), *Spatial Dynamics in the Experience Economy*. Washington: Taylor & Francis. (Forthcoming)
- Gyimóthy, S., Lundberg, C., Lindström, K., Lexhagen, M., & Larson, M. (2014). Popculture Tourism: A research Manifesto. In D. Chambers (Ed.), *Tourism Research Frontiers, Tourism Social Science Series, 21*. Bingley: Emerald. (Forthcoming).
- Hahm, J., & Wang, Y. (2011). Film-Induced Tourism as a Vehicle For Destination Marketing: Is it Worth the Efforts? *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 28(2), 165-179.
- Hall, S. (1996). Encoding/decoding. In S. Hall, D. Hobson, A. Lowe & P. Willis (Eds.), *Culture, Media, Language* (pp. 128-138). London, New York: Routledge.

- Hankinson, G. (2010). Place branding research: A cross-disciplinary agenda and the views of practitioners. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy, 6*(4), 300-315.
- Hanna, S., & Rowley, J. (2008). An analysis of terminology use in place branding. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy, 4*(1), 61-75.
- Hannam, K., & Knox, D. (2010). Understanding Tourism. London: SAGE
- Hardy, J. (2011). Mapping commercial intertextuality: HBO"s True Blood. *Convergence*, *17*(1), 7-17.
- Heide, M. & Simonsson, C. (2014). Kvalitet och kunskap i fallstudier. In J. Eksell & Å. Thelander (Eds.), *Kvalitativa metoder i strategisk kommunikation* (pp. 215-232). Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Heitmann, S. (2010). Film Tourism Planning and Development—Questioning the Role of Stakeholders and Sustainability. *Tourism and Hospitality Planning & Development*, 7(1), 31-46.
- Heldt Cassel, S. (2007). Platsen som idé och turistprodukt image som tillgång och begränsning för turismutveckling. In M. Bohlin & J. Elbe (Eds.), Utveckla turistdestinationer - ett svenskt perspektiv (pp. 149-161). Uppsala: Uppsala Publishing House.
- Hepp, A. (2009). Differentiation: Mediatization and cultural change. In K. Lundby (Ed.), *Mediatization. Concepts, Changes, Consequences*. New York: Peter Lang Publishing.
- Herbert, D. (1996). Artistic and literary places in France as tourist attractions. *Tourism Management*, 17(2), 77-85.
- Herbert, D. (2001). Literary places, tourism and the heritage experience. *Annals of Tourism Research, 28*(2), 312-333.
- Hjarvard, S. (2008a). *En verden af medier: medialiseringen af politik, sprog, religion og leg.* Frederiksberg: Samfundslitteratur.
- Hjarvard, S. (2008b). The Mediatization of Society. A Theory of the Media as Agents of Social and Cultural Change. *Nordicom Review*, 29(2), 105-134.
- Horrigan, David. (2009). Branded content: a new model for driving tourism via film and branding strategies. *Tourismos: An international multidisciplinary journal of tourism*, 4(3), 51-65.
- Hospers, G.-J. (2009). Lynch, Urry and city marketing: Taking advantage of the city as a built and graphic image. *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy*, *5*(3), 226-233.
- Hospers, G.-J. (2010). Making sense of place: from cold to warm city marketing. Journal of Place Management and Development, 3(3), 182-193.

- Hubbard, P., Kitchin, R., & Valentine, G. (2004) Editors' intoduction. In P. Hubbard, R. Kitchin, & G. Valentine (Eds.) *Key thinkers on space and place* (pp. 1-15). London: SAGE.
- Hudson, S. (2011). Working together to leverage film tourism: collaboration between the film and tourism industries. *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, 3(2), 165-172.
- Hudson, S., & Ritchie, J. R. B. (2006a). Film tourism and destination marketing: The case of *Captain Corelli's Mandolin. Journal of Vacation Marketing*, *12*(3), 256-268.
- Hudson, S., & Ritchie, J. R. B. (2006b). Promoting Destinations via Film Tourism: An Empirical Identification of Supporting Marketing Initiatives. *Journal of Travel Research*, 44(4), 387-396.
- Hudson, S., Wang, Y., & Gil Sergio, M. (2011). The influence of a film on destination image and the desire to travel: a cross-cultural comparison. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 13(2), 177-190.
- Iwashita, C. (2006). Media representation of the UK as a destination for Japanese tourists. Popular culture and tourism. *Tourist studies*, *6*(1), 59-77.
- Iwashita, C. (2008). Roles of Films and Television Dramas in International Tourism: The Case of Japanese Tourists to the UK. *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 24(2-3), 139-151.
- Jansson, A. (2002a). The Mediatization of Consumption. Towards an analytical framework of image culture. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 2(1), 5-31.
- Jansson, A. (2002b). Spatial Phantasmagoria. The Mediatization of Tourism Experience. *European Journal of Communication*, 17(4), 429-443.
- Jansson. A. (2007). Texture. A key concept for communication geography. *European Journal of Cultural Studies, 10*(2), 185-202.
- Jansson, A. (2013). Mediatization and Social Space: Reconstructing Mediatization for the Transmedia Age. *Communication Theory*, 23, 279–296.
- Jansson, A., & Falkheimer, J. (2006). Towards a Geography of Communication. In J. Falkheimer & A. Jansson (Eds.), *Geographies of Communication. The Spatial Turn in Media Studies* (pp. 9-25). Göteborg: Nordicom.
- Jenkins, H. (2004). The cultural logic of media convergence. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 7(1), 33-43.
- Jenkins, H. (2006). *Convergence Culture. Where Old and New Media Collide* New York, London: New York University Press.
- Jenkins, H., & Deuze, M. (2008). Editorial: Convergence Culture. Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies, 14(1), 5-12.

- Jenkins, O. (1999). Understanding and measuring tourist destination images. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 1(1), 1-15.
- Jenkins, O. (2003). Photography and travel brochures: the circle of representation. *Tourism Geographies*, 5(3), 305-329.
- Jensen, J. L. (2009). The Beach. In J.L Jensen & A. M. Waade, *Medier og turisme* (pp. 121-132). Århus: Academica.
- Jensen, J. L., & Waade, A. M. (2009). Medier og turisme. Århus: Academica.
- Johnson, R. (1986). The story so far: and further transformations? In D. Punter (Ed.), *Introduction to contemporary cultural studies* (pp. 277-313). Harlow: Longman House.
- Karpovich, A. (2010). Theoretical Approaches to Film-Motivated Tourism. *Tourism* and Hospitality Planning & Development, 7(1), 7-20.
- Kavaratzis, M., & Ashworth, G. (2008). Place Marketing: how did we get here and how are we going? *Journal of Place Management and Development*, 1(2), 150-165.
- Kim, H., & Richardson, S. L. (2003). Motion picture impacts on destination images. Annals of Tourism Research, 30(1), 216-237.
- Kim, S. (2010). Extraordinary Experience: Re-enacting and Photographing at Screen Tourism Locations. *Tourism and Hospitality Planning & Development*, 7(1), 59-75.
- Kim, S. (2012). Audience Involvement and Film Tourism Experiences: Emotional Places, Emotional Experiences. *Tourism Management*, 33(2), 387-396.
- Kim, S., Long, P., & Robinson, M. (2009). Small Screen, Big Tourism: The Role of Popular Korean Television Dramas in South Korean Tourism. *Tourism Geographies*, 11(3), 308-333.
- Knight, J., & Weedon, A. (1995). Editorial. Convergence, 1(1), 5-8.
- Knudsen, D. C., Soper, A. K., & Metro-Roland, M. (2007). Commentary: Gazing, Performing and Reading: A Landscape Approach to Understanding Meaning in Tourism Theory. *Tourism Geographies*, 9(3), 227-233.
- Knudsen, B. T., & Waade, A. M. (2010) Performative authenticity in tourism and spatial experience: rethinking the relations between travel, space and emotion. In B. T. Knudsen, &A. M. Waade (Eds.), *Re-investing authenticity. Tourism, place and emotion* (pp. 1-19). Bristol: Channel View Publications.
- Kotler, P., Haider, D. H., & Rein, I. J. (1993). Marketing places: attracting investment, industry, and tourism to cities, states, and nations. New York: Free Press Oxford.
- Korea Tourism (2011) retrieved May 18, 2011 from english.visitkorea.or.kr/enu/SI/SI\_EN\_3\_4\_2.jsp.

- Kucharska, Sylwia. (2012). European union's founds as an opportunity to promote film tourism: The polish case. Paper presented at the *1st Belgrade International Tourism Conference 2012 Contemporary Tourism - Wishes and Opportunities BITCO 2012 Belgrade.*
- Lagerkvist, A. (2004). "We See America": Mediatized and Mobile Gazes in Swedish Postwar Travelogues. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 7(3), 321-342.
- Lagerkvist, A. (2006). Terra (In)cognita. Mediated America as Thirdspace Experience. In J. Falkheimer & A. Jansson (Eds.), *Geographies of Communication. The Spatial Turn in Media Studies* (pp. 261-278). Göteborg: Nordicom.
- Laing, J. & Frost, W. (2012). *Books and travel: inspiration, quests and transformation*. Bristol: Channel View Publications.
- Larsen, J. (2006) Geographies of tourist photography. Choreographies and performances. In J. Falkheimer & A. Jansson (Eds.), *Geographies of Communication. The Spatial Turn in Media Studies* (pp. 243-259). Göteborg: Nordicom.
- Larsen, J. (2010). Goffman and the tourist gaze: a performative perspective on tourism mobilities. In M. H. Jacobsen (Ed.), *Contemporary Goffman* (pp. 313-332). London: Routledge.
- Law, L., Bunnell, T., & Ong, C.-E. (2007). The Beach, the gaze and film tourism. *Tourist studies*, 7(2), 141-164.
- Lawson, F., & Baud-Bovy, M. (1977). *Tourism and Recreational Development*. London: Architectural Press.
- Leaver, D., & Schmidt, R. A. (2009). Before they were famous: music-based tourism and a musician's hometown roots. *Journal of Place Management and Development, 2*(3), 220-229.
- Lexhagen, M., Larson, M. & Lundberg, C. (2013) The Virtual Fan(G) Community: Social Media and Pop Culture Tourism. In A. M. Munar, S. Gyimothy, L. Cai (Eds.), *Tourism Social Media: Transformations in Identity, Community and Culture* (pp. 133-157). Bingley: Emerald
- Lichrou, M., Malley, L., & Patterson, M. (2008). Place-product or place narrative(s)? Perspectives in the Marketing of Tourism Destinations. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 16(1), 27-39.
- Light, D. (2009). Performing Transylvania: Tourism, fantasy and play in a liminal place. *Tourist studies*, *9*(3), 240-258.
- Lindström, K. (2011). Den massmediala (re)produktionen av turismens platser geografiska perspektiv på journalistikens uttryck och produktionsförhållanden. (PhD Thesis), Departments of Geography, University of Gothenburg.

Liou, D.-Y. (2010). Beyond Tokyo Rainbow Bridge: destination images portrayed in Japanese drama affect Taiwanese tourists' perception. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 16(1), 5-15.

Lindgren, Simon (2005). Populärkultur: teorier, metoder och analyser. Malmö: Liber.

- Livingstone, S. (2009). Foreword: Coming to terms with 'Mediatization'. In K. Lundby (Ed.), *Mediatization. Concept, changes, consequences* (pp. ix-xii). New York: Peter Lang Publishing.
- Lonely Planet (2014) Retrived January 20, 2015 from http://www.lonelyplanet.com/travel-tips-and-articles/top-10-literary-walkingtours-of-the-world.
- Long, P., & Robinson, M. (2009). Tourism, Popular Culture and the Media. In T. Jamal & M. Robinson (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of tourism studies.* London: SAGE.
- Lucarelli, A. & Brorström, S. (2013) Problematising place branding research: A metatheoretical analysis of the literature. *The Marketing Review*, *13*(1), 65-81.
- Macionis, N. (2004). Understanding the Film-Induced Tourist Paper presented at the International Tourism and Media Conference Proceedings: Tourism Research Unit, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia.
- Macionis, N., & Sparks, B. (2009). Film-induced tourism: An incidental experience. *Tourism Review International*, 13, 93–101.
- McCabe, S. (2009). *Marketing Communications in Tourism and Hospitality. Concepts, Strategies and Cases.* Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Mechling, J. (2008). Popular Culture. In W. A. Darity, Jr. (Ed.), International Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences (2nd ed., Vol. 6, pp. 373-376). Detroit: Macmillan Reference USA.
- Mercille, J. (2005). Media effects on image. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 32(4), 1039-1055.
- Mestre, R., del Rey, A., & Stanishevski, K. (2008). The Image of Spain as Tourist Destination Built Through Fictional Cinema. *Journal of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, 24(2-3), 185-194.
- Milleniummrapporten (2011) Retrevied June 6, 2011 from www.frsm.se/download/18.1a1b7a5b12f8a8e79f98000157/Millennium\_Rappo rt\_20110407.pdf.
- Moores, S. (2005). *Media/Theory. Thinking about media & communications*. New York: Routledge.
- Mordue, T. (2001). Performing and directing resident/tourist cultures in *Heartbeat* country. *Tourist studies*, 1(3), 233-252.

- Mordue, T. (2005). Tourism, performance and social exclusion in "olde york". *Annals of Tourism Research*, 32(1), 179-198.
- Mordue, T. (2009). Television, Tourism, and Rural Life. *Journal of Travel Research*, 47(3), 332-345.
- Morgan, N., & Pritchard, A. (1998). *Tourism, promotion and power: creating images, creating identities.* Chichester: Wiley.
- Moyle, B. D., & Croy, W. G. (2009). Media in the previsit stage of the tourist experience: port campbell national park. *Tourism Analysis*, 14, 199-208.
- Munar, A. M. (2011). Tourist-created content: rethinking destination branding. *International journal of culture, tourism and hospitality research*, *5*(3), 291-305.
- Munar, A. M., Gyimóthy, S., & Cai. L. (2013). Tourism Social Media: A New Research Agenda. In A. M. Munar, S. Gyimothy, L. Cai (Eds.), *Tourism Social Media: Transformations in Identity, Community and Culture* (pp. 1-15). Bingley: Emerald.
- Munar, A. M., & Jacobsen, J. S. (2014) Motivations for sharing tourism experiences through social media. *Tourism Management*, 43, 46-54.
- Müller, D. K. (2006). Unplanned Development of Literary Tourism in Two Municipalities in Rural Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism, 6(3), 214-228.
- Månsson, M. & Eskilsson, L. (2013). The attraction of screen destinations. EuroScreen Baseline report assessing best practice. Rzeszów, Poland. www.euroscreen.org.uk. (Publicering inom INTERREG IVC projektet "EuroScreen).
- O'Connor, Noelle. (2010). A Film Marketing Action Plan (FMAP) for Film Induced Tourism Destinations. (PhD Thesis). Dublin Institute of Technology, Dublin.
- O'Connor, N., Flanagan, S., & Gilbert, D. (2009). Stakeholders' Perspectives of the Impacts of Film- and Television-Induced Tourism in Yorkshire. *Tourism Review International*, 13(2), 121-127.
- O'Connor, N., Flanagan, S., & Gilbert, D. (2010). The use of film in re-imaging a tourism destination: a case study of Yorkshire, UK. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, *16*(1), 61-74.
- Pan, B., MacLaurin, T., & Crotts, J. C. (2007). Travel Blogs and the Implication for Destination Marketing. *Journal of Travel Research*, 46(1), 35-45.
- Perkins, H., & Thorns, D. (2001). Gazing or performing? Reflections on Urry's tourist gaze in the context of contemporary experience in the Antipodes. *International Sociology*, 16, 185-204.
- Philips, D. (2011). Mapping Literary Britain: Tourist Guides to Literary Landscapes 1951-2007. *Tourist studies, 11*(1), 21-35.

- Pike, S. (2008). *Destination marketing. An inegrated marketing communication approach.* Oxford, Burlington: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Quinn, B. (2007). Performing Tourism Venetian Residents in Focus. Annals of Tourism Research, 34(2), 458-476.
- Rainisto, S. K. (2003). Success factors of place marketing: a study of place marketing practices in northern europe and the united states. (PhD Thesis), Helsinki University of Technology, Helsinki.
- Reijnders, S. (2009). Watching the Detectives Inside the Guilty Landscapes of Inspector Morse, Baantjer and Wallander. *European Journal of Communication*, 24(2), 165-181.
- Reijnders, Stijn (2011a). *Places of the imagination: media, tourism, culture*. Farnham, Surrey: Ashgate.
- Reijnders, S. (2011b). Stalking the count. Annals of Tourism Research, 38(1), 231-248.
- Ridanpää, J. (2011). Pajala as a literary place: in the readings and footsteps of Mikael Niemi. *Journal of Tourism and Cultural Change*, *9*(2), 103-117.
- Riley, R., Baker, D., & Doren, C. S. V. (1998). Movie induced tourism. Annals of Tourism Research, 25(4), 919-935.
- Riley, R. W., & Doren, C. S. V. (1992). Movies as tourism promotion. A 'pull' factor in a 'push' location *Tourism Management*, 13(3), 267-274.
- Rittichainuwat, B., & Rattanaphinanchai, S. (2015). Applying a mixed method of quantitative and qualitative design in explaining the travel motivation of film tourists in visiting a film-shooting destination. *Tourism Management*, 46, 136-147.
- Roesch, S. (2009). *The Experiences of Film Location Tourists*. Bristol, Buffalo, Toronto: Channel View Publications.
- Rose. G. (2002). Place and identity: a sense of place. In D. Massey & P. Jess (Eds.), A place in the world. Places, cultures and globalization (pp. 87-132). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ryan, C., Yanning, Z., Huimin, G., & Song, L. (2009). Tourism, a Classic Novel, and Television: The Case of Cáo Xueqin's Dream of the Red Mansions and Grand View Gardens, Beijing. *Journal of travel research.*, 48(1), 14-28.
- Sadler, W. J., & Haskins, E. V. (2005). Metonymy and the Metropolis: Television Show Settings and the Image of Bew York City. *Journal of Communication Inquiry*, 29(3), 195-216.
- Sandvik, K. (2010). Crime Scenes as Augmented Reality: Models for Enhancing Places Emotionally by Means of Narratives, Fictions and Virtual Reality. In B.

T. Knudsen, &A. M. Waade (Eds.), *Re-investing authenticity. Tourism, place and emotion* (pp. 138-153). Bristol: Channel View Publications.

- Saraniemi, S., & Kylänen, M. (2011). Problematizing the Concept of Tourism Destination: An Analysis of Different Theoretical Approaches. *Journal of Travel Research*, 50(2), 133-143.
- Scarles, C., & Lester, J-O. (2013) Mediating the Tourist Experience: From Brochures to Virtual Encounters. In C. Scarles & J-O. Lester (Eds.), *Mediating the Tourist Experience. From Brochures to Virtual Encounters* (pp. 1-12). Farnham, Surrey: Ashgate.
- Schultz, (2004) Reconstructing Mediatization as an Analytical Concept. *European Journal of Communication*, 19(1), 87–101.
- Schmallegger, D., & Carson, D. (2008). Blogs in tourism: Changing approaches to information exchange. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 14(2), 99-110.
- Screentours (2011) Retrieved May 18, 2011 from www.screentours.com/
- Sheller, M., & Urry, J. (2004). Places to play, places in play. In M. Sheller & J. Urry (Eds.), *Tourism mobilities. Places to play, places in play* (pp. 1-10). London: Routledge.
- Silverman, D. (2005). *Interpreting qualitative data: methods for analyzing talk, text and interaction*. London SAGE.
- Siripis, M. Scarles. C., & D. Airey (2013) Being a Tourist or a Performer? Tourists'Negotiation with Mediated Destination Image in Popular Film. In C. Scarles & J-O. Lester (Eds.), *Mediating the Tourist Experience. From Brochures to Virtual Encounters* (pp. 209-222). Farnham, Surrey: Ashgate.
- Sjöholm, C. (2010). Murder Walks in Ystad. In B. Timm Knudsen & A. M. Waade (Eds.), *Re-Investing Authenticity. Tourism, Place and Emotions*. Bristol: Channel View Publications.
- Sjöholm, C. (2011). *Litterära resor: turism i spåren efter böcker, filmer och författare.* Göteborg: Makadam.
- Skinner, H. (2008) The emergence and development of place marketing's confused identity. *Journal of marketing management*, 24(9-10), 915-928.
- Soliman Dalia, M. (2011). Exploring the role of film in promoting domestic tourism: A case study of Al Fayoum, Egypt. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, *17*(3), 225-235.
- Squire, S. J. (1994). The cultural values of literary tourism. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 21(1), 103-120.

- Stadsmuseet Stockholm (2015) Retrived January 20, from http://www.stadsmuseet.stockholm.se/Utstallningar-ochvandringar/Stadsvandringar-och-program/Millennium/.
- Storey, J. (2012). *Cultural theory and popular culture: an introduction*. 6. ed. Harlow: Pearson.
- Sydney-Smith, S. (2006). Changing places Touring the British crime film. *Tourist studies*, *6*(1), 79-94.
- Tham, A., Croy, G, & Mair, J. (2013). Social Media in Destination Choice: Distinctive Electronic Word-of-Mouth Dimensions. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 30(1-2), 144-155.
- Thelander, Åsa (2002). En resa till naturen på reklamens villkor. Diss. Lund : Univ.
- Tooke, N., & Baker, M. (1996). Seeing is believing: the effect of film on visitor numbers to screened locations. *Tourism Management*, 17(2), 87-94.

Tourism Australia (2009) Retrieved January 8, 2009 from www.tourism.australia.com/Marketing.asp?sub=0413

- Tuan, Y-F. (1975). Place: An Experiential Perspective. *Geographical Review*, 65(2), 151-165.
- Tussyadiah, I. P., & Fesenmaier, D. R. (2009). Mediating Tourist Experiences. Annals of Tourism Research, 36(1), 24-40.
- Tzanelli, R. (2003). 'Casting' the Neohellenic 'Other': Tourism, the Culture Industry, and Contemporary Orientalism in 'Captain Corelli's Mandolin' (2001). *Journal of Consumer Culture, 3*(2), 217-244.
- Tzanelli, R. (2004). Constructing the 'cinematic tourist'. The 'sign industry' of *The Lord of the Rings. Tourist studies, 4*(1), 21-42.
- Tzanelli, R. (2006). Reel Western Fantasies: Portrait of a Tourist Imagination in The Beach. *Mobilities*, 1(1), 121-142.
- UNT Millenium (2011) Retrived August 15 from www.unt.se/kultur/millennium/
- Urry, J. (1990). *The Tourist gaze. Leisure and Travel in Contemporary Societies.* London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi: SAGE Publications.
- Urry, J. & Larsen, J. (2011). The Tourist Gaze 3.0. London: Sage.
- Veijola, S., & Jokinen, E. (1994). The Body in Tourism. Theory, Culture and Society, 11(3), 125-151.
- Visit Britain (2010) Robin Hood, Global Evaluation Report
- Visit Scotland (2003) *The 2002 Visitor Attraction Monitor* from http://www.moffatcentre.com/media/moffatcentre/Visitor%20Attraction%20M onitor%202002.pdf.

- Visit Scotland (2006). Promoting Scotland Through the Da Vinci Code. Retrieved May 30, 2006, from www.scotexchange.net/news\_item.htm?newsID=39425.
- Visit Scotland (2008) *The 2007 Visitor Attraction Monitor*. Moffat Centre for Travel and Tourism Business Development.
- Visit Scotland (2014) Retrived April 26 from http://www.visitscotland.org/media\_centre/new\_visitscotland\_area\_guide.aspx
- Visit Stockholm (2011) Retrieved June 6, 2010 from www.visitstockholm.com/en/To-Do/Tips/Stockholm-in-Millennium-thrillersfootsteps/
- Visit Sweden (2009) Annual Report
- Visit Sweden (2009) Retrieved May 18, 2011 from partner.visitsweden.com/sv/Startsida/Press/Pressmeddelanden/2009/Millennium hype-gor-franska-journalister-nyfikna-pa-Stockholm/
- Waade, A. M. (2005). Armchair travelling with pilot guides. Cartographic and sensous strategies. In J. Falkheimer & A. Jansson (Eds.), *Geographies of Communication. The Spatial Turn in Media Studies* (pp. 155-168). Göteborg: Nordicom.
- Waade, A. M. (2013). Wallanderland. Medieturisme og skandinavisk tv-krimi. Aalborg: Aalborgs Universitetsforlag.
- Ward, S. (1998). *Selling places. The marketing and promotion of towns and cities 1850-2000.* London: Spon Press.
- Ward, S., & O'Regan, T. (2009). The Film Producer as the Long-stay Business Tourist: Rethinking Film and Tourism from a Gold Coast Perspective. *Tourism Geographies*, 11(2), 214-232.
- Watson, N. (2009). Introduction. In N. Watson (Ed.), *Literary tourism and nineteenth-century culture* (pp. 1-12). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Welch, C., & Piekkari, R. (2006). Crossing Language Boundaries: Qualitative Interviewing in International Business. *Management International Review*, 46(4), 417-437.
- Wenger, A. (2008). Analysis of travel bloggers' characteristics and their communication about Austria as a tourism destination. *Journal of Vacation Marketing*, 14(2), 169-176.
- Williams, B. (2008). "What South Park Character Are You?": Popular Culture, Literacy, and Online Performances of Identity. *Computers and Composition*, 25, 24-39.
- Winter, T. (2002). Angkor Meets Tomb Raider: setting the scene. *International Journal of Heritage Studies*, 8(4), 323-336.

Young, A. F., & Young, R. (2008). Measuring the Effects of Film and Television on Tourism to Screen Locations: A Theoretical and Empirical Perspective. *Journal* of Travel and Tourism Marketing, 24(2-3), 195-212.

Ystad (2011) Retrieved August 11, 2011 from www.wallander.ystad.se

Örnebring, H. (2007). Alternate reality gaming and convergence culture. The case of Alias. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, *10*(4), 445-462.